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Monday, April 23, 2007


--- Upon commencing at 9:31 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.


Good morning, everyone.  The Board is sitting in the matter of application EB‑2006‑0501 submitted by Hydro One Networks, for an order or orders approving or fixing just and reasonable rates and other charges for the transmission of electricity commencing January 1st, 2007.


Today we will begin the examination of the panel on OM&A and capital-sustaining programs.  My name is Pamela Nowina.  I will be the Presiding Member in this.  Joining me are my colleagues, Mr. Bill Rupert and Mr. Paul Sommerville.  


PRELIMINARY MATTERS:

Before we begin, I have some preliminary remarks on administrative matters.  There are a lot of issues in this case.  It's likely to be a fairly lengthy proceeding, and it's important that we all manage the efficiency of this hearing.


So just some points on that.  First, Board Staff will be the first cross-examiner for most of the panels, and they will work with other parties to determine when it is not appropriate for them to begin cross‑examination.


I would ask all of the intervenors to work with each other not to duplicate questions as much as possible.  I will be asking each cross-examiner an estimate of the time of their examination, and I will keep you to those estimated times as much as possible, and I remind you if you go over your times that you will be affecting those that follow you.


Our day will normally begin at 9:30 and end at 4:30, but if the schedule appears to be slipping, we will work later into the evenings.


It's important that witnesses have an opportunity to review material before they are cross‑examined, and therefore I would like intervenors to be sure to submit any materials they have for cross‑examination at least 24 hours before they will be using it.  Obviously on a weekend it means that that will be on the Friday, with ample time for the witness panel to examine the material normally during business hours before they're cross‑examined.


Hydro One has prepared a schedule of witness panels, I understand.  Board Staff will work with the parties.  Mr. Thiessen has a copy of that for us, and Board Staff will work with parties to develop a full schedule that includes intervenor panels.


Those complete my opening remarks.  May I have appearances, please.


APPEARANCES:

MR. ROGERS:  Good morning, Ms. Nowina.  My name is Donald Rogers.  I appear for the applicant.  With me is Mr. Joseph Toneguzzo, who is director of major applications for the company.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  The Board Staff?


MS. CAMPBELL:  For Board Staff, Donna Campbell, and Jennifer Lea and Harold Thiessen.  And I was also asked by Patrick Moran to put in an appearance on his behalf for the EDA.  Although he is not physically with us, mentally he is here.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Campbell.  We will look forward to Mr. Moran appearing in person.  Who else?


MR. LONG:  I am Richard Long.  I'm appearing for the Society of Energy Professionals.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Long.


MR. MacINTOSH:  David MacIntosh for Energy Probe, and Tom Adams will be joining me later in the hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. MacIntosh.


MR. PETRELLA:  Tony Petrella, Ontario Power Generation.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Petrella.


MR. SHORT:  David Short for the IESO.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Short.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Good morning.  My name is Richard Stephenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.


MR. RODGER:  Good morning.  Mark Rodger appearing as counsel to the Association of Major Power Consumers in Ontario, and with me is Mr. Wayne Clark, a consultant to AMPCO. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Good morning.  John DeVellis, School Energy Coalition.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Michael Buonaguro, counsel for the Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition, and with me today is Mr. Bill Harper, consultant.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MS. GIRVAN:  Julie Girvan for the Consumers Council of Canada, and I would like to register an appearance for Mr. Robert Warren.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  That's everyone.


Are there any other preliminary matters?


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Ms. Nowina, I have a brief opening statement I would like to make.  Before doing that, I would like to confirm with the Board that the company filed, I believe on Friday, the audited financial statements for 2006, as it undertook to do, and I believe in another filing, as well, on Friday with one other matter that was outstanding, which I believe now complies with all of our prehearing obligations with respect to filing.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Before you begin your opening remarks, Mr. Rogers, maybe I can get an estimate of time for today, and from the intervenors, so I understand who will be cross‑examining this witness panel.


MR. ROGERS:  May I just say that I propose, with the Board's permission, to have a brief opening statement, but then, as has been my practice in other cases, have a very brief, high-level summary-in‑chief of the witnesses, which will take 10 or 15 minutes, I think.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Good morning.  Good morning, pardon me.  I'm not yet used to the electronic marvels of this hearing room.


I estimate that I will be between one and two hours with the first panel.  It is hard to say until I have heard the witnesses' answers to the initial few questions.  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. LONG:  I estimate I will be about 15 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I think I will be about 20 minutes.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stevenson.


MR. RODGER:  Approximately half an hour.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Approximately one hour, Ms. Nowina.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.


MR. BUONAGURO:  We're approximating one-and-a-half to two hours, but hopefully it will be cut down by the people preceding us.


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.


MS. GIRVAN:  We would expect to be about 20 minutes, but it just depends on what's covered off before us.  So we will be very conscious of that.  Thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Girvan.  All right, thank you.  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  


OPENING STATEMENT BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  Madam Chair, Members of the Board, the applicant in this case is Hydro One Networks Inc.  It operates a distribution business and it operates a transmission business.


Last year at this time, or about this time, Hydro One was before the Board for a full review of the costs of service of its distribution business.  This really was the first time since 1999.


Now, a year later, the company is back before you again, this time for a review of its transmission business, once again, the first full review since about 1999.


Ontario is a big province.  This transmission system has approximately 28,000 circuit kilometres of overhead transmission lines and about 270 kilometres of underground transmission lines.  It has 274 transmission stations and operates the Ontario grid control centre in Barrie.  It's a big undertaking.


A transmission system, as the Board is well aware, is different from a distribution system.  While many of the issues in this case are similar to those in the last case on the distribution side, there are some unique regulatory issues which you will be called upon to determine in this case.


The Board may be assured, I can tell you from the beginning, that the costs of the transmission business have been separated from the costs of the distribution business using the same methodology as was extensively reviewed in the last case.  And, in fact, this really is not a matter of contention between the parties.


And the Board may recall, for those of you who were here, that there was concern that there be consistency in approach to segregate the transmission and distribution costs, and that, I can assure you, has been done.


Now, as before, the applicant has conducted an extensive stakeholder consultation process with its stakeholders.  As a result of that extensive consultation process and the Board's recent decision in the distribution case, coupled with, I must say, the cooperation of the intervenor groups, which I would like to acknowledge, many issues have been settled and we can concentrate on those which are unique to the transmission business and were not decided just a year or so ago in the distribution case.


Let me just speak for a moment about this transmission system.  


It has grown substantially since 1999 when last reviewed by the Board, and it is a very big undertaking indeed.  The proposed rate base for 2007 is $6,478,000,000 and for 2008, $6,883,000,000.  This represents growth of 15 to 22 percent since this Board last looked at the rate base.  It has grown quite significantly.  


An important element in this case, which affects most aspects of the case, is the very large capital expenditure program being undertaken by the company.  You will hear a good deal of evidence over the next several weeks concerning the aging condition of the physical assets of this transmission system; indeed, Mr. Penstone will speak about this briefly in a few moments.  


Plant which was installed during the high-growth period of the 1950s and 1960s is wearing out.  This causes higher costs of maintenance, leading to increases in operating costs.  Many of these facilities require or will require replacement in the near future.  


Further, expanding demand has caused constrictions in the transmission system and there is a pressing need to expand capacity.  Expansion of the system, as the Board well knows, is not totally within the control of the applicant, but is influenced by decisions of others:  the OPA in developing the IPSP, for example, and the IESO.  


This applicant must undertake a very large expansion program, and that will be a major factor influencing the costs in this case.  


The capital expenditure program of Hydro One is $691.5 million in 2007, and for 2008, it is $768.2 million.  This program is significantly larger than historical levels of capital spending for reasons which have been explained in the prefiled evidence and which will be enlarged upon during the hearing.  


The applicant seeks approval of a revenue requirement of $1,261,000,000 in 2007, and $1,287,000,000 in 2008.  This proposal would result in a modest transmission rate increase of 4 percent in 2007 and 2.12 percent in 2008.  


That's less than one-half percent on the average customer's bill, to put it in perspective.  


Because of the difference in the transmission and distribution businesses, the applicant proposes a different capital structure in this case based on the advice of its consultant, from whom you will hear during the course of the hearing.  It has proposed that the capital structure for the transmission business be set at 56 percent debt as opposed to 60 percent for distribution, 4 percent preference, the same as distribution, and 40 percent common equity, compared with 36 percent for distribution.  


The proposed return on equity is 10.5 percent, the proposed return on rate base is 7.68 percent for 2007, and 7.65 percent for 2008.  


The applicant, as a transmitter, has a very serious responsibility to its customers, distributors and direct customers to provide a dependable and reliable system, and it takes this responsibility very seriously.  


I should add generators to that group as well, who depend upon the transmission system.  


My client takes seriously its responsibilities to control costs at a reasonable level, just as it does in the distribution arm of the business.  It is, however, very cognizant of the costs to be borne by its customers should its system fail to deliver an acceptable quality of service.  


Because of the very significant capital expansion program which the utility faces, it makes several unique proposals to this Board in this case.  For example, it seeks to include in rate base transmission development projects required to implement provincial government supply-mix decisions as those costs are incurred rather than accruing interest during construction, as has been the past practice.  The company also proposes for the Board's consideration a revenue adjustment mechanism for the years 2009 and 2010 as a means of improving regulatory efficiency.  


The company has filed extensive prefiled evidence in this case, which forms part of the record and which supports all of the issues on which settlement have been reached.  To deal with issues which have not been resolved, I propose to lead six panels of witnesses.  A list of those panels has been distributed as you pointed out, Madam Chair.  


Now, the witnesses we have arranged are knowledgeable about the company's affairs, although not always well versed in regulatory terminology, and I believe the evidence will demonstrate to the Board that this utility is well managed, that it strives to control its costs in difficult circumstances and that it places the interests of its customers first.  


I propose to call three panels of witnesses to deal with the large expenditures in OM&A and capital, for which the applicant seeks approval.  The first panel, as you pointed out, will deal with sustaining programs.  


Now, before doing that, there is one matter I would like to deal with, and that is it is my practice, Madam Chair, to seek the Board's permission to confer with company witnesses throughout the hearing, should that be necessary.  I seek this approval pursuant to Rule 4.04 of the Rules of Professional Conduct, and it has been my experience it's not uniformly requested by counsel, but I would like to do so.  Under that rule, in court cases a  lawyer is prohibited from conferring with witnesses while they are under cross-examination without leave of the court.  This is designed for adversarial court proceedings and is really not appropriate for strict application in a complicated, administrative case such as this.  


The Board has my undertaking I will not abuse the privilege, and that I will use it to discuss technical matters, inform myself, and deal with undertakings given during the course of the hearing.  


I will not attempt to influence witnesses to change their prior testimony.  I can tell the Board that my experience is this is routinely granted by this Board and others, and I simply wish the opportunity to confer with witnesses even though they may be under cross-examination for standard periods of time to help me ensure that the record is complete and that the best evidence is before the Board.  


The object of my request is to improve the quality of the evidence which you will hear, and not for any improper purpose, so I do ask for that privilege.  


MS. NOWINA:  If I can take a moment, Mr. Rogers.  Ms. Lea, do you have a comment on that?  


MS. LEA:  I think it is appropriate the privilege be granted.  Thank you. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Any other parties have a comment on Mr. Rogers' request?  Fine, Mr. Rogers.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  I would like to call my first panel, in that case.  


MS. NOWINA:  Please do.  


MR. ROGERS:  The members of the first panel have already taken their place, and the panel consists of Mr. Frank Jakob, to my right, closest to the -- I'm not sure which direction I am looking in now.  


MS. NOWINA:  Neither am I, Mr. Rogers. 


MR. ROGERS:  The north, thank you.  Next to him is Mr. Mike Penstone.  Then Mr. George Carlton, both of whom I think are known to the Board, and to my left, Mr. Andy Stenning.  Could they be sworn.  


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, Mr. Rogers.  


HYDRO ONE NETWORKS INC. - PANEL 1

George Carleton; Sworn

Frank Jakob; Sworn

Mike Penstone; Sworn

Andy Stenning; Sworn

MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rupert.  Mr. Buonaguro?  


MR. BUONAGURO: I'm sorry, I notice we don't have anybody manning the monitors.  Are we not using the displays in the hearing?  


MS. LEA:  I was not aware that we were going to be using that system for this particular hearing.


MS. NOWINA:  Just a clarification.  I think I did discuss this with, Mr. Thiessen, and we can probably take care of it at break, Mr. Buonaguro.  We are not using an electronic display of the records.  They haven't been filed in that way, if you're thinking of the Enbridge case, so we don't have them online.


What we can do, however, is use the overhead projector so that if you have exhibits or we get exhibits in that we want to display, that we have in hard copy, we can put it there.  So we can use that system.


MR. BUONAGURO:  All right, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead, Mr. Rogers.


EXAMINATION-IN-CHIEF BY MR. ROGERS:

MR. ROGERS:  I would like first just to qualify the witnesses, and then I will have a brief opening, some direct evidence.


Starting with you, Mr. Jakob.  I understand, sir, that you hold a Bachelor's degree in electrical engineering from McMaster University?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes, that's true.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have a -- you have attended the University of Toronto School of Continuing Education on management principles and organizational behaviour in 1985.


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked in the electrical industry since 1980 in various forms?


MR. JAKOB:  Since 1981.


MR. ROGERS:  1981.  And presently are the -- hold the position of manager, program integration and regulatory filing, system investment and asset management; is that correct?


MR. JAKOB:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  A copy of your curriculum vitae has been filed as Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2, page 5, and subject to a correction changing your commencement of work from 1986 to 1981, a typographical error, is it a fair reflection of your experience?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  Have you ever testified before, sir?


MR. JAKOB:  No.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of evidence, generally speaking, will you respond to?


MR. JAKOB:  That would be sustaining OM&A and sustaining capital programs.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you very much.  


Mr. Penstone, you hold a Bachelor of applied science and electrical engineering, McMaster University, obtained in 1979?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And I believe that you have worked in the electrical industry since 1979 immediately following your graduation?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You presently hold the position of director, system investment for the company?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have filed a copy of your curriculum vitae at Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 2.  Is it an accurate summary of your qualifications and experience, sir?


MR. PENSTONE:  It is.


MR. ROGERS:  You have testified before this Board before, Mr. Penstone?


MR. PENSTONE:  I have had the pleasure before.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Could you just tell us very briefly what areas of the evidence you will respond to this morning.


MR. PENSTONE:  The Hydro One's work program prioritization, the sustaining OM&A and sustaining capital programs.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Just for the record, Mr. Penstone, because we are not calling witnesses on all of the issues, some of which have been settled, can you confirm for me, sir, that the areas of evidence listed on Exhibit A, tab 19, schedule 1 under panel 1, that that evidence, to the best of your knowledge, is an accurate reflection of the company's affairs.


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You have been involved in the preparation of this material?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  For presentation in this case?


MR. PENSTONE:  Absolutely.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.


Mr. Carleton, you, sir, I believe hold an honours Bachelor degree of mathematics from Waterloo University?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  You have a Master of Engineering, industrial engineering, from the University of Toronto, obtained in 1978?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I do.


MR. ROGERS:  And you have a diploma in business administration from the University of Toronto in 1985?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  You have worked in industry, starting in 1975 in the paper business with Reid Paper Limited?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I did.


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked with the applicant or its predecessor for some time, I believe?


MR. CARLETON:  Since 1981, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  Your present position is director, supply chain services, finance; is that correct?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  What areas of the evidence would the director, supply chain services, finance respond to?


MR. CARLETON:  I will be speaking to the consolidation of results, as well as costing of work.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you very much.  And, once again, you can confirm for us, can you, that your curriculum vitae filed as part of tab 19 is an accurate reflection of your qualifications and experience?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, it is.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


Mr. Stenning, you, sir, are also an engineer, I understand, having obtained a Bachelor of Science in electrical engineering from Queen's University in 1983?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.  1985, sorry.


MR. ROGERS:  1985.  That's a typographical error on your curriculum vitae?


MR. STENNING:  Yes.


MR. ROGERS:  You began work, it looks like, with Hydro One, or I guess its predecessor, in 1986 as protection and control engineer?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  And have worked your way through various functions in the company and presently hold the position of director, station maintenance; is that correct?


MR. STENNING:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. ROGERS:  What are the responsibilities of the director of station maintenance?


MR. STENNING:  I can speak to issues around the cost efficiencies, as well as any issues around the execution of work.


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  Thank you very much.


That's the qualifications of the witnesses, Madam Chair.  I do have some relatively brief questions I would like to put to Mr. Penstone which I hope will provide the Board with some assistance in understanding this component of the case.


MS. NOWINA:  Fine.  Go ahead, Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, you are aware, I think, that during the various phases of this proceeding leading up to this case, there have been questions raised by interested parties concerning the need for increases in costs in the area of the transmission business sustaining OM&A and capital expenditures.


What I would like you to do is give us a high‑level overview of the approaches Hydro One uses, to put in context for the Board how you go about putting together the budget for the sustaining programs, and perhaps take us through a simple example to show how sustaining O&M and capital costs increase as the Hydro One fleet of assets ages.  


First of all, tell us what kind of activities the sustaining OM&A and capital applies to.


MR. PENSTONE:  Sustaining work represents the work that is required on existing transmission assets that is necessary to ensure that the assets continue to perform at the required levels of performance.


Each piece of equipment has a specific function to perform to deliver reliable transmission service to our customers.  This equipment is designed to operate within specific performance parameters.  If the equipment does not operate within these parameters, it becomes unreliable.


In turn, this can impact the reliability of the transmission system, service quality to our customers, public and employee safety, environmental performance and cost efficiencies, depending on the criticality, function and location of the equipment.


Sustainment activities refer to the work which Hydro One undertakes to maintain, otherwise known as sustainment OM&A or replace existing equipment, and replacement is referred to as sustainment capital.  


Again, both activities are undertaken to maintain equipment performance at appropriate levels at the least cost.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you very much.  Mr. Penstone, the company is asking for approval for a very large amount of money in this area of your evidence.  I wonder if you could describe for us - at a high level, once again - the process that your company goes through to establish the sustained O&M and capital costs.


MR. PENSTONE:  Hydro One has been employing a thorough and extensive process for establishing sustaining OM&A and capital programs for a number of years.  The processes enable us to monitor equipment condition and performance, and then establish work priorities according to the risks that this equipment condition and performance presents.  


These risks are to system reliability, safety and environment, customer satisfaction, regulatory compliance, business efficiency.


Our processes have been developed based on best practices, and Hydro One is considered to be an industry leader in our asset condition assessment and work prioritization processes.  These are described in detail in Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 5, and Exhibit D 1, tab 2, schedule 1, respectively.


MR. ROGERS:  Is this the same kind of process that the company went through in its development of its distribution forecasts? 


MR. PENSTONE:  It is.  


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, tell us, if you would, please, how sustaining costs have changed in recent years and how you expect them to change as we go forward.  


MR. PENSTONE:  We expect our sustaining costs to increase going forward.  I will use Hydro One's OM&A costs and stations category as an example.  For reference, they're summarized in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2.  


MR. ROGERS:  We don't have to turn this up, I don’t think.  We would just like a high overview. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Not at all.  These costs have been steadily increasing over the past few years.  The exhibit illustrates that the actual 2006 costs for this particular category of equipment have increased 7 percent over 2005.  


This is particularly marked in the power equipment area, where actual costs increased 25 percent from the previous year.  


In 2005 the actual expenditures for power equipment were $42 million.  The actual costs in 2006 have risen to $53 million.  These costs need to continue to increase to allow the necessary work to occur in 2007 and 2008, to ensure that these assets perform as required.  


MR. ROGERS:  Just stop there for a moment.  What exactly is power equipment?  Give us some examples of what that would cover.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Power equipment covers basically the largest assets within our stations, transformers, breakers, switches, bus work.  


MR. ROGERS:  I see.  Thank you very much.  How did you go about identifying the need for these increases in costs?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Through the process that I described earlier, we track and monitor equipment performance and we track and monitor the condition of the assets.  This information enables us to determine the extent to which corrective maintenance must be undertaken, again, to ensure that this equipment performs as required.  


Recently, in the course of developing the business plan which forms the basis for our transmission application, a regular review of equipment performance revealed that critical performance measures had deteriorated since the prior business planning efforts.  


These increased failure rates, coupled with asset condition information and an aging asset demographic, indicate that more equipment failures can be expected going forward unless remedial measures are undertaken, and these measures require increased O&M and capital expenditures.  


I would like to stress that the need for this has been validated by monitoring our key lead performance indices; specifically asset failure rates, for some of the most critical equipment on Hydro One's system.  


I would also like to note that during the interrogatory process we were asked why our OM&A and capital costs were not planned and incurred as a result of earlier or prior business planning efforts.  These business planning efforts employed and monitored the same lead performance metrics that formed the basis for 2007/2008 business plan.  However, at the time that these prior business plans were developed, the metrics did not provide demonstrated evidence of the need to take corrective action.  


Given this information, it therefore would have been imprudent for the company to incur these expenditures ahead of need.    


Information related to this change in equipment failure rates between historic and current business planning efforts has been provided in interrogatory response J-1-22.  This response shows that the asset failure trends used for the business planning effort clearly show a deteriorating performance trend.  


MR. ROGERS:  Do I take it that this trend was not shown during prior business planning efforts?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The trend was revealed in the course of preparing the current business plan.  


MR. ROGERS:  And you have pointed us to where that evidence can be found?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MR. ROGERS:  Mr. Penstone, I wonder if you could comment on the impact some of these changes and equipment performance have had on your overall system performance measures.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The system performance measures referred to are SAIDI and safety indices.  The most recent review of our transmission system level of these metrics indicate that our transmission system delivery point performance has worsened in 2006.  


This may be due to deteriorating equipment performance.  Some key excerpts of the summary of a recent assessment of the 2006 reliability results have identified the following concerns:  Number 1, the transmission system experienced worse customer reliability performance both in frequency and duration in 2006 and than 2005.  


Number 2, the equipment performance studies have shown deteriorating performance for two consecutive years.  


Number 3, at year end 2006 there were 96 outliers and 57 inliers in terms of our customer delivery point performance.  This again has worsened since 2005.   


Results of the root cause analysis of the outlier and inlier delivery points indicate that adverse weather is the primary cause contributing to their increased outage frequency, and that equipment failure is the primary cause contributing to the increased outage duration.  


Lastly, the increase in frequency of load interruptions raises concerns of possible increasing sensitivity of equipment to adverse weather conditions.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you very much.  


Mr. Penstone, tell me, is the transmission asset base expected to age in a predictable and uniform manner, or do you expect that there will be significant steps and work and cost requirements to deal with this phenomenon of the transmission system aging; in other words it will be a smooth transition or a lumpy one?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The transition actually depends on the nature of the equipment itself.  The sustaining and work costs that we're incurring today and we expect to incur moving forward are a reflection of how the transmission system developed and evolved in response to growing demand in the '50s, '60s, '70s and '80s.  


Specific asset types grew at different rates, depending on the generation or load connection projects which were going on at the time.  


The asset, again for reference only, the asset profiles appear in Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, figures 1, 2 and 3.  


I want to stress, however, that while the demographic profile of the assets may be correlated, the demographic profile of the assets answer their age may be correlated to how we expect the work and cost requirements to change, many other factors must be brought into the equation to ensure customers get full value for the investment that has been made in the transmission system.  Many of our largest and most expensive assets are on their first or second life cycle.  


As an industry as a whole, we are still learning 

and -- in some cases, when asset reliability can be expected to degrade and just what the consequences of the degradation will be.


In addition, costs of some equipment have decreased in real terms due to the evolution of technology, in particular protection and control and telecommunications, whereas costs of other types of equipment have increased.  


Our costs are also impacted today by new regulatory requirements and by what the public considers as acceptable.  For example, within urban areas, transformer stations must be designed to integrate within the community.  In addition, there is an increasing public pressure to place some transmission facilities underground for aesthetics or potentially joint-use purposes even when replacing existing overhead facilities.  


As I mentioned earlier, there were many factors that we considered in addition to asset age to determine when to increase or decrease the equipment maintenance requirements.  


These other conditions are factors include:  asset condition, the environment under which the asset must operate and has been operated, equipment failure rates and trends, and the criticality of the equipment.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Mr. Penstone.  I only have a few more questions for you.  I wonder if you can give us a simple example which demonstrates how OM&A costs might increase with the aging of your transmission system.  Why are OM&A costs affected by that? 

MR. PENSTONE:  To respond to your question, I will again use the example of power equipment.


Again, for reference, the figures that I quote may be found in Exhibit C 1, tab 2, schedule 2, table 2.  As I mentioned earlier, power equipment includes the costs of some of the most complex and costly assets on Hydro One's transmission system.


The table that I mentioned illustrates that the costs for power equipment maintenance is expected to increase between ‑‑ by $3.6 million between 2006 and 2007.  Let me explain why.


In the first couple of decades of a power transformer's life, the device only requires routine or minimal maintenance activities, which result in annual operations costs of about $5,000 per year on each unit.  However, after about 40 years of service, these devices need some major maintenance to the moving parts, to its cooling systems and gaskets, to avoid internal failures and oil leaks which can result in significant reliability, power quality and environmental impacts.  The midlife maintenance requirement results in a one‑time annual cost of about $200,000 per transformer.  


In many cases, a transformer can be considered equivalent to a car.  When you first buy a car, there's minimal maintenance, but, as it ages, the maintenance requirements go up.


Our response to Interrogatory J‑1‑20 shows that between 2006 and 2007, eleven additional power transformers are expected to enter the ‑‑ or reach their 40‑year birthday.  Using age as a proxy to determine maintenance requirement results in an overall increase of about $2.2 million in maintenance requirements for this type of asset alone.


This accounts for over 60 percent of the overall increase in power equipment costs mentioned earlier of $3.6 million.


As I mentioned earlier, power equipment includes not only power transformers.  It includes breakers.  It includes switches, bus work.  All of these devices are following into their expensive ^midlife or interlife regions, which require additional maintenance.  Again, for reference only, this is illustrated in the demographic profiles contained in J‑1‑20. 


The OM&A cost increases requested by Hydro One in this application represent the minimum levels which are considered necessary to maintain the levels of transmission service, public and employee safety and environmental stewardship that is expected by our customers and stakeholders.


MR. ROGERS:  All right, thank you.  I have one last question.  You talked about the demographic asset profiles earlier.  Are capital costs also impacted by those profiles and the changes in those profiles?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  My previous response, I mentioned the fact that maintenance is required as assets enter into their midlife region of their expected lifespan.


Once assets reach their end of life, they must be replaced.  It's no longer feasible to continue to maintain them.


Demographic asset profiles indicate that an increasing number of our assets can be expected to enter the end-of-life region and will need to be replaced, as they are no longer cost‑effective to continue maintaining, or they become a significant liability in terms of reliability, safety or environment.


When replacing assets, we need to give significant consideration to coordinating the work with related asset groups in the same station to ensure that we optimize work and maximize the opportunities presented by system outages.  


Under these circumstances, it sometimes means it is more economic to actually advance the replacement of a specific piece of equipment to enable its replacement to coincide with other planned work.


There is also a need to ensure we give consideration to coordinating end-of-life asset replacement work with new capital additions, as in many cases it is cost-effective to combine or integrate these projects into a single initiative to achieve the least overall cost.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you, Mr. Penstone.  


Is there anything further you would like to say about that just now?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.


MR. ROGERS:  It's not a command performance.  Thank you.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's plenty, thanks.


MR. ROGERS:  That's the end of the direct evidence, Madam Chair.  Thank you very much for your indulgence.  The panel is available for questioning.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  


Ms. Lea.


CROSS‑EXAMINATION BY MS. LEA:

MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Thank you very much for those answers to questions-in-chief.


I would also like to begin my cross‑examination with some questions about the OM&A in general, as opposed to specifically sustaining.  So the first part of my cross-examination will deal with overall or overview of OM&A costs.  


And I wonder if I could ask you to turn up the chart that I believe you have already referred to, and this occurs at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2, where we have a chart of summary of transmission OM&A budget.


Yes, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  This is the large summary table -- well, the table isn't large, but a summary of large numbers that is a summary of transmission OM&A budget.  


Would it be possible for you to supply the percentage change numbers between 2006 and 2007, and 2007 and 2008?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  On the total OM&A level, 2007 over 2006 increased 5.1 percent.  2008 over 2007 decreased 1.7 percent on total OM&A.  


If you look at the sustainment piece, the sustainment itself, 2007 over '06, grew 11.8 percent, and 2008 and 2007 were essentially flat.


MS. LEA:  And do you have the number for between 2005 and 2006, as well?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I do.


MS. LEA:  And that is?


MR. CARLETON:  On total OM&A, '06 grew 9.7 percent over '05, and on sustainment grew 7.6 percent over '05.


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  Just tell me the figure again between '06 and '07?


MR. CARLETON:  5.1 percent on total OM&A.


MS. LEA:  Thank you, yes.  All right, thanks.


Now, as I understand it, the Board-approved OM&A in the year 2000 - that's your last Board‑approved OM&A 

amount - was 385 million, approximately; am I correct about that?


MR. CARLETON:  I'm not sure.


MS. LEA:  All right.  Perhaps we can have that checked, and I ask you to accept that figure for the moment, subject to check.


MR. CARLETON:  Subject to check, yes.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I want to ask a few questions about the impact of changes in allocation, and I understand that ‑ I don't intend to debate with you ‑ the allocation between transmission and distribution is settled.  It's a settled issue and I don't want to talk about that allocation specifically, but what I do want to understand is the effect that that has had on the amount of the OM&A costs that the transmission company now has to bear.


So there are two interrogatories you may wish to refer to in answering these questions, J-1-43 and J-1-44.  That's Board Staff Interrogatories 43 and 44.


Now, Interrogatory No. J-1-43 asked you for ‑‑ to address this type of question, and on the second page of J-1-43, you give us an estimate in a decrease in common corporate function and services costs, allocated transmission at about $4 million in 2006 and $6 million in 2007 and 2008; is that correct?


MR. CARLETON:  Could you just give me a second, please?


MS. LEA:  Yes, please go ahead.  If you look at the very last paragraph of the interrogatory, that's where I'm taking the figures from.


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So the OM&A numbers for 2007 and 2008 are lower by about 6 million than they would have been without the change in the allocation methodology.  Do I understand that to be the purport of this evidence?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  And as I understand it, this is the change in allocation that started in 2005.  That is, it's the most recent methodological change; is that right? 


MR. CARLETON:  This is the most recent allocation, yes.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  In interrogatory J-1-44, Staff asked you for the impact of previous changes in allocation and, in that answer, you indicated that it was not possible to quantify the effect of the earlier changes in allocation.  Do I understand that correctly?  


MR. CARLETON:  The response indicated would be very time-consuming and difficult, yes. 


MS. LEA:  Right.  And we're not asking you to do that today.  Can you explain to us, though, why it is that it would be very difficult to try to provide that number.  


MR. CARLETON:  I can give you a high-level answer. 


MS. LEA:  That's adequate, thank you. 


MR. CARLETON:  I would also suggest if you want to raise it with Panel 3, who is talking to shared costs, they may have a better sense.  


What happens is on a year-over-year basis we'll often change how work is done.  We might change business models.  We might change where work is done in the organization, whether it is a direct charge, whether it is an allocation.  
To map through every change that has occurred in our organization year over year and to normalize this whole table back to how the company looked in '03 versus how it looks in 2006 would be a very time-consuming process.  We would have to make guesses on this meant this back in '03 and now it doesn't mean that.  That would be the issue. 


MS. LEA:  Not only would it be difficult, but the evidence resulting might not be particularly valid or reliable?  


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  Or maybe not be too helpful. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Looking back again at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2.  That's the table of the overall transmission OM&A budget.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Is it correct to state - and I know that we are going to check the previously approved amount of OM&A -but would it be correct to say that you did not spend up to that amount in any of the years, 2003, 2004, 2005 or 2006?  


MR. CARLETON:  I believe that's correct.  


MS. LEA:  What happens when you underspend your OM&A?  In the absence of a rate change, do the cost savings go to the shareholder?  


MR. CARLETON:  It would certainly improve our net income position, yes.  


MS. LEA:  The Vulnerable Energy Consumers Coalition asked you an interrogatory about this apparent underspending, and you will find that interrogatory at J5 27.  I'm not sure you need to go to that interrogatory.  I can tell you what I want to take from it.  


In that answer, you referred us to cost savings that you had achieved through cost efficiency measures.  And that evidence, I believe, appears at C1, tab 4, specifically schedule 2.  I would like you, please, to turn to C1, tab 4, schedule 2.  I'm interested in looking at the table that appears at page 6 of  that exhibit.  So C1, tab 4, schedule 2, page 6.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I have it.  


MS. LEA:  We didn't understand this table completely.  I was hoping to get a bit of clarification with respect to it.  This is total incremental cost savings, transmission.  And as I understand this table, the bottom row, labelled "Savings as a percent of total cost," and the second row includes "Transmission and capital plus OM&A."  Am I correct?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct. 


MS. LEA:  What about the top row, "Total savings"; does that include both OM&A and capital?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  Do you have available or could you provide, without too much effort, the OM&A amount?  That would help us understand a little bit about the cost savings achieved in OM&A as opposed to capital.  


MR. CARLETON:  We could make an estimate of OM&A.  How we calculate our cost savings is to look at initiatives.  


For instance, if we looked at an initiative like a service centre rationalization where we would save, let's say, $5 million over consolidating service centres across the province, that's a savings.  


To take the OM&A portion of it, we would have to make some judgment to say, well, those service centres would support 60 percent OM&A or 40 percent capital.  And so it would be our judgment that we could go through and make an estimate of how those savings would fall, but at this point I don't have a OM&A capital allocation.  


MS. LEA:  Is there perhaps somewhere else in the evidence that is a better place to look for the Board to get an understanding of the cost savings attributable to OM&A as opposed to capital?  


MR. CARLETON:  I don't believe so.  


MS. LEA:  I would ask the Panel, then, to indicate whether that's an acceptable undertaking or whether it's a large amount of work.  I haven't yet got a sense of that. 


MR. ROGERS:  That is really the question I wanted to ask, if I could intervene.  What would be involved in trying to do this?  


MR. CARLETON:  It wouldn't be a significant undertaking.  It would be a matter of applying judgment. 


MR. ROGERS:  It could be done within a few days?  


MR. CARLETON:  It could be done within a few days, yes. 


MR. ROGERS:  We'll undertake to do that.  Just state exactly what it is you want them to do, Ms. Lea, please. 


MS. LEA:  Yes, I will.  I just wanted to clarify, Mr. Carleton says there would also be a considerable amount of judgment that has to be applied. 


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  That would be, if I have this initiative, how much would we think it is attributable to OM&A versus how much we think it is attributable to capital.  


MS. LEA:  May I just have a moment.  What I would suggest, gentlemen, if it's acceptable, is that you provide the evidence and if there are matters of judgment you want to draw to our attention, you can indicate that in the written form of the exhibit.  


MR. CARLETON:  Fair enough. 


MR. ROGERS:  Yes, they will undertake to do that.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  


MR. ROGERS:  Do you have a numbering system, Ms. Lea?


MS. LEA:  I do.  Undertakings in this hearing will be under letter K.  This is the first day of the hearing, the first undertaking.  K1.1.  


UNDERTAKING NO. K1.1:  TO PROVIDE BREAKDOWN BETWEEN 


OM&A COSTS VERSUS CAPITAL


MS. LEA:  For folks -- exhibits filed here will be in the L-series.  Just, then, to be specific about the exact undertaking, I am asking for a breakdown between OM&A and capital costs of the table that appears at Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, page 6.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MS. LEA:  Gentlemen, can you give us some idea as to how much of the cost savings that you have achieved are attributable to the cost efficiencies that you detailed beginning at page 6 of that same exhibit, C1, tab 4, schedule 2, page 6.  


MR. CARLETON:  Could you ask that question again?


MS. LEA:  Yes.  In this exhibit, you talk about cost-efficiency initiatives, and I'm wondering how much of the cost savings that have you achieved in your view are attributable to cost-efficiency initiatives as detailed in this exhibit.  


MR. CARLETON:  I would suggest they all are.  


MS. LEA:  All of the cost savings?  


MR. CARLETON:  Unless I am missing something.  


MS. LEA:  Well, you could always come back to it if you think about it later.  


MR. CARLETON:  As far as I know the cost savings are the reductions or the savings in costs which we would claim our efficiencies.  So I would use one and the same term. 


MS. LEA:  Yes.  That's how I understood the evidence, but I wanted to make sure of that.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, that's correct. 


MS. LEA:  Then you provided a general narrative description in section 2 of this exhibit of the cost savings, or rather cost efficiencies.  These numbers are not tied to the numbers in table 1.  


Is it to quantify the amount from any given initiative?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, we can quantify the initiatives.  The initiatives, though, would be over multiple years.  They would be spread over ‑‑ some of these initiatives, in fact, would be spread over OM&A capital transmission and distribution, because, once again, any initiative would hit all parts of our business, or typically would hit all parts of our business.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  It sounds like it would be a little too complex to provide us with anything truly useful.  Perhaps we will leave that for now.


I wanted to understand the relationship of a couple of pieces of evidence.  In schedule C1, tab 4, schedule 1 - and this is costing of work - you give us some examples in the appendices there.  So in Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1, appendix 1, you provide us with a table which gives us the cost of work for a regional maintainer, electrical.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Now, what inference is it that you want the Board to draw from this evidence, and how does it relate to the cost savings or cost efficiency evidence which precedes it?  Is it or -- is it related at all to the cost efficiency evidence?


MR. CARLETON:  Well, in that when we price these savings, cost efficiencies related to labour, we would use these rates.  However, the real purpose of C1, tab 4, schedule 1 was to identify to the Board how internally we go and price labour, how we price fleet and how we put a material surcharge so that when we price the work programs, this is the methodology that we use to come up with the rate that we charge to work programs, as opposed to any direct relationship to cost efficiencies.  


We just happened to put it into the same exhibit.


MS. LEA:  Okay, that's fine.  And the same applies, then, for the other appendices, appendix 2 and so on; is that correct?


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  And there was one other clarification that I needed with respect to those appendices.  I'm still turning it up.


At appendix 3 of Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 1, appendix 3, at page 7 there is an updated table for fleet management services, and when I compare that to what appeared at appendix 2, which was the fleet rate, appendix 2 doesn't show any particular increase in the fleet rate.  In fact, it's flat, but the table in appendix 3 at page 7 of the exhibit shows an increase of about 30 percent.  


And I'm not suggesting the two tables are directly comparable, but I need to understand how they relate, if at all.


MR. CARLETON:  Could you give me those two references?  I have appendix 3, the updated fleet management services, which I believe you indicated we updated for the 2006 actuals.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And that's at page 7 of that exhibit.


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.


MS. LEA:  I have a table there.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Then I was looking back at appendix 2.  That's C1, tab 4, schedule 1, appendix 2.


MR. CARLETON:  Oh, I see, I see.


MS. LEA:  The previous appendix.  It is just a confusion on our part.  There appears to be a fleet rate with no forecasted increase, and then the fleet management services are a bit higher and some of the same elements appear to drive both costs, so I didn't know what the reason was for that apparent inconsistency.


MR. CARLETON:  Let me explain.  Within our company, we set rates for the ‑‑ we would have set -- we would have set '06 rates and we would use them throughout the year and we would track what we call an over-/under-recovered.  So that, in fact, if fleet actual costs were higher and we weren't recovering our rates through fleet, we would need to adjust those.


We don't, at the end of the year -- after '06 was over and our actuals came in higher or lower, we don't ‑‑ we don't change our fleet rate.  We've always used that -- in the case of appendix 2, that's $7 per hour, and then within the program, if that wasn't enough to pay for the total fleet costs, then we would allocate those costs back.


MS. LEA:  So appendix 2, there were forecasted increases.


MR. CARLETON:  Appendix 2?


MS. LEA:  The fleet rate.


MR. CARLETON:  The fleet rate was set prior to '06 for use in the '06 year, yes.


MS. LEA:  So it was a forecast?


MR. CARLETON:  It was a forecast, correct.


MS. LEA:  Appendix 3 includes the 2006 actuals?


MR. CARLETON:  Correct, yes.


MS. LEA:  In Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, you provide us a discussion of work efficiency indicators -- well, work efficiency results and work efficiency indicators.  And this ‑‑ the discussion of work efficiency results begins at page 9 of Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, and the efficiency indicators themselves begin at page 11 and continue through about page 29.  Am I right?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And you do show some efficiency gains for some of these measures.  I do not want to go through each of them in detail with you.  I wonder if you could agree with me, though, that efficiency gains are shown for maintenance for oil circuit breakers, for example?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  And that result appears at page 11.  And the reason that there's efficiencies, as this table shows, is because the number is going down in the chart?


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  Hours per unit are improving.


MS. LEA:  Hours per unit, per activity ‑‑


MR. CARLETON:  Per activity, yes.


MS. LEA:  -- are improving, yes.  Then there are some which show no efficiency or very little gain in efficiency, like wood pole structure replacement, for example?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  I just wanted to take you to tables 8 and 9 of this section to clarify the -- I guess it is clarifying the units that we're working on.  This is page 27 of 30, Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, page 27 of 30.  These are macro level work efficiency indicators and we have a different set of units here.


And what -- initially, when you look at the chart, you see the numbers going up and you think, Oh, oh, no efficiency.  What's going on here?


MR. CARLETON:  What we're trying to show in this, in table 8, which is the asset management work efficiency, the efficiency of staff within asset management that would say we plan, release, control, track costs and performance related to a variety of assets and a variety of equipment.


What this shows is the amount of work that -- a certain level of investment within asset management can deliver so much of a work program.  So if I'm one individual, I'm supporting $20 million of work program.  If then I can -- may change my processes or my tools that I can then support a $30 million increase, the work program costs per cost within asset management is increasing, which means I'm more efficient in delivering on what the asset needs and the investment plan.


MS. LEA:  So in these cases, then, efficiency is actually shown by an increase in the number?


MR. CARLETON:  An increasing trend is better.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  All right.  A few questions about the cost escalation evidence that you have provided.  And there are a couple of interrogatories you might want to have handy for these questions, Interrogatory J-1-21 and Interrogatory J-1-15.


So in your evidence, you have provided a cost escalation of combined labour and materials of 12.7 percent per year for the 2003 to 2008 period.  Do I understand the evidence correctly?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And in J-1-21, in that interrogatory you explain this is based on an estimate for labour escalation of 3 percent per year and that the other components were estimated to increase at the annual consumer price index rate.  Am I right?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And you provided us with the CPI rates which you have used at Exhibit A, tab 14, schedule 2, page 3.  Yes, I'm not sure you need to turn those up, but that's where they are.


Now, in Interrogatory J-1-15, you have also provided the Power Planner, which is prepared by a group called Global Insight.  What is this publication?


MR. CARLETON:  I'm not familiar with the publication, other than the evidence is provided.


MS. LEA:  Is it something that helps to estimate costs for transmission utilities?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  This provides an escalation rate for a variety of construction and OM&A expenses. 


MS. LEA:  Could the names provided in the Power Planner be used instead of the consumer price index to estimate cost escalation for the non-labour component?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I suppose it could be.  


MS. LEA:  And would this be more representative of actual utility transmission cost escalation -- when you compare the basket of goods that's considered under CPI and the basket of goods, if I can put it that way, considered under Power Planner, is Power Planner more directly related to transmission cost escalation than CPI?  


MR. ROGERS:  Let me interrupt.  I don't mind the witness answering the question, but due to the fact he said he doesn't know what it is, I'm a little nervous about the answer.  


MS. LEA:  All right.  


MR. ROGERS:  Gentlemen, if you are familiar with the document and can answer it, fine.  If not, let's take an undertaking and check with whoever put it in there to see what they say about it. 


MS. LEA:  Certainly.  Because this was related to the cost-escalation business, I presumed this panel could deal with it.  You may want to take some time to look at it or you can take an undertaking, witnesses.   I don’t mind.


MR. CARLETON:  I need to take a look at it.


MS. NOWINA:  Is it an appropriate time to take a break, Ms. Lea? 


MS. LEA:  If you please, Madam Chair.  As it suits my friend.  I don't know how much time he needs.  


MS. NOWINA:  We'll be having the morning break soon, in any case.  


MS. LEA:  Okay.  


MR. ROGERS:  I suggest we take the break now, if that is convenient to the Board, and we can maybe look at this and maybe make a phone call to deal with this.  


MS. NOWINA:  We will break until five minutes past 11.  


--- Recess taken at 10:43 a.m. 

‑‑‑ Upon resuming at 11:05 a.m.


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Before we begin, I notice some of the gentlemen have removed their jackets.  It is warm in here and those of you who are waiting for the protocol may also do so, if you'd like to.  I see that Mr. Rupert and I both brought drinks in, so if you feel the need to bring a coffee in during this long session, or whatever, feel free to do that.


Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Yes.  Some enquiries were made over the break.  I don't know if the witnesses are able to definitively answer your question, but they have some information for you, Ms. Lea.


MS. LEA:  Please.


MR. CARLETON:  Regarding your question on the Power Planner, which I believe is J‑1-15, and whether we could have used the escalation on page 51, the escalation included in the Power Planner, includes both labour and material.  And so in our response to J‑1‑21, we split out Hydro One labour escalation and used CPI for the balance.  


Alternatively, we could have chosen the maintenance line on page 51 and used that to escalate, which would have given a significantly higher escalation rate.  I'm not exactly sure which it is, but we would need to take the compounding from 2004, which looks like 6.5 percent, then 6.1, then 2.8, then 1, then 0.07 to come up with a compounded escalation rate using that escalation.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So a couple of questions arising out of that.  The maintenance line would replace the entire ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Ms. Lea, do you have your microphone on?


MS. LEA:  My light is on.  Does that work?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  My light was on.  Maybe I'm seeing things.  Anyway, can't I just stand up and walk around?  I'm used to that.


Okay.  You referred to the maintenance line on page 51 of the Power Planner, which appears at Interrogatory J‑1-15, and would that replace the entire escalator figure or just the non‑labour component?


MR. CARLETON:  Entire, because that line item, maintenance includes labour and non‑labour.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I'm not asking you to try and calculate what that eventual rate would have been using the Power Planner, but as I understand it, directionally, your cost escalation would have been higher using the Power Planner numbers?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Do you believe that Hydro One is attributing enough of its increasing costs to cost escalation, having looked at the Power Planner numbers?


MR. CARLETON:  I think our estimation was reasonable.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  And there are clearly non-transmission industry components in the consumer price index basket.


MR. CARLETON:  True.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I have some questions about specific parts of the sustaining OM&A budget as well.


Now, in your evidence-in‑chief, you summarized for us the reasons for the increases in the sustaining OM&A budget.  I seem to remember Mr. Penstone giving us evidence about that.


You did attend a technical conference with the parties who are here today; is that right?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And during at that technical conference, which was transcribed and forms part of the record in this proceeding, you discuss with Board Staff the updates ‑‑ well, you discuss with everyone, but one of the questions we asked you about the update you provided for the 2006 actuals was, despite the fact that the actual numbers in 2006 were higher than the numbers you originally forecast, you in fact did not do any updates to 2007 and 2008 numbers in consequence of now knowing what the 2006 numbers are.  Am I right you had that discussion?  


Perhaps it's easier to just ask you.  Can you give me the reasons for the decision not to update your 2007 and 2008 numbers?


MR. PENSTONE:  The investment plans that were developed for the business plan did not change as a result of the update.  The update only reflected the accomplishments in 2006, and we did not change the expected work or the nature of the work that had to be done in 2007 and 2008 based on that update.


MS. LEA:  Your knowledge of the actual costs in 2006 did not lead you to believe that the costs of the planned work in 2007 and 2008 would be higher?


MR. PENSTONE:  The information that was filed for 2007 and 2008 considered the nature and volume of the work, and also addressed expected escalations in labour and materials.


MS. LEA:  Yes, I understand that, sir, and I hear you say that you didn't change your plans for 2007 and 2008 based on your 2006 results on the project.  


All I'm trying to understand is, if part of the difference between the forecast and the actuals for 2006 was some type of cost increase over what you expected, did you take that and carry it forward into 2007 and 2008?


MR. PENSTONE:  The refresh reflected the actual work that was accomplished and the actual cost of accomplishing that work.


MS. LEA:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  When the evidence was initially filed, all we could use is an estimate of what the actual work accomplishments would be, based on the information that we had at that time.  And as it turned out, the extrapolation was low, and, in fact, the actual work that was accomplished was higher than what we had anticipated very early in the year, roughly, you know, a year ‑‑ a year ago.


MS. LEA:  So it was the achievement of more work rather than the cost drivers within that work that led to a higher actual result in 2006?


MR. PENSTONE:  We accomplished more work.


MS. LEA:  So I don't want to belabour this unnecessarily, sir.  It is Hydro One's evidence that the 2007 and 2008 forecasts do not need to be updated from anything learned from the 2006 actual numbers?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Now, in your evidence-in‑chief this morning, and also throughout your prefiled evidence and in answers to interrogatories, you talked about the reasons for the fairly substantial increase in sustaining OM&A.  And you indicated that your previous planning - that is, in years previous to the ones that we're considering now - the metrics did not show that the work was necessary.


When was the previous planning you're referring to?


MR. PENSTONE:  The previous ‑‑ the planning occurs on an annual basis.  Our business plans are developed on an annual basis.


MS. LEA:  So when was ‑‑ are you saying that ‑‑ up to what point did you not see an indication in the metrics that work needed to be done of the nature that you're contemplating now?


MR. PENSTONE:  Our 2006 business plan was developed based on data and information that was assembled to the year ‑‑ to the end of the year 2004.  And up until the 2004, there is no indication that the equipment performance was deteriorating.


In 2005, that was the ‑‑ at the end of the year of 2005, that was the first point where we began to see evidence of a deteriorating performance.  The 2005 actual equipment performance was used as the basis for the business plan that we have developed for 2007 and 2008.


MS. LEA:  Which particular metrics showed the need for corrective action at this time?


MR. PENSTONE:  I can refer to some interrogatory responses which show ‑‑


MS. LEA:  J‑1-20 are you looking at?


MR. RUPERT:  Ms. Lea, can I ask while you're looking that up, just so I'm clear, I didn't bring the original evidence with me.  I just have the revised sheet.  Can you tell me, for my information, what was the original number for 2006 that you're referring to?


MS. LEA:  For sustaining OM&A?


MR. RUPERT:  Yes, just so I have a sense of the size of increase you're talking about.


MS. LEA:  Certainly we will find that for you.  Mr. Thiessen is going to look into that.


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.


MS. LEA:  Non‑updated.  What's the old number?  


Mr. Thiessen informs me, and perhaps the applicant can help us with this, that the original number for 2006 for the sustaining OM&A was 155.9 million.  


MR. RUPERT:  Thanks.  


MS. LEA:  If the applicant finds that I am incorrect, please bring that corrected number to the record.  


Now, Mr. Penstone...


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  You were about, I think, to answer my question about the indicators that showed the difficulties.  


MR. PENSTONE:  If I can refer you to figure 1B in Exhibit J-1-22. 


MS. LEA:  22, thank you.  


MR. PENSTONE:  This illustrates the forced outages on 230 kV transformers. 


MR. ROGERS:  If you could take a minute before we turn it up.  It is J-1, schedule 22.  


MS. LEA:  It is in the package I provided to the Board members, and it also should be in your... yes, I want to spend a little bit of time with this interrogatory.  I agree with Mr. Rogers that it's an important one.  


MR. ROGERS:  All right.  Thank you.  I think you can go ahead now, Mr. Penstone. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Thank you.  Figure 1B illustrates, Ms. Lea, the point that I made earlier, that the 2006 business plan was based on information that we had up to and including 2004.  


As you see from the information that's in the --illustrated in the bar charts, if you took a snapshot at 2004, there was nothing to suggest that the 230 kV transformers, their forced outage rate was worsening.  


However, in 2005, there was a marked increase in the number of forced outages for this particular asset class, and as a result of that, this, in our mind, was a precursor to deteriorating performance across the entire group of assets.  That's why, when we prepared our business plan for 2007 and 2008, we suggested that there has to be increased expenditures to address this deteriorating trend.  


MS. LEA:  I understand that in addition to the particular metrics -- I gather this is just an example of the metrics?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  In addition to these particular metrics, you also looked at an asset condition assessment which has been provided?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct. 


MS. LEA:  What do the asset -- let me jump back.  The previous asset condition assessment was in the year 2003?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MS. LEA:  Just for reference - I don't think you need to turn it up - this is discussed in the interrogatory J-6-2.  I’m not going to discuss that specifically with you.  


What did the most recent asset condition assessment indicate, and how is it different from the 2003 one?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Can you give me the asset condition information?  To your point about the 2003 asset condition assessment -- 


MS. LEA:  Yes.  


MR. PENSTONE:  -- the 2006 assessment cannot be compared directly to the results of the 2003 assessment.  That's because the algorithm that was used to derive the health indices for individual asset classes between 2003 and 2006 had been modified.  And it was modified based on our own experience and the experience of other utilities to actually come up with a more precise and accurate health index.  So the two aren't directly comparable.  We can speak to the 2006 asset condition assessment for this particular asset class.


MS. LEA:  What I am trying to understand, sir, is in your general planning, how did the results of the 2006 assessment drive certain decisions or plans the company made, as compared to what you took from the 2003 assessment?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The 2006 assessment -- just give me a minute.  


MS. LEA:  Please.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  The 2007 business plan was based on the 2006 asset condition assessment in combination with other factors as well.  


The asset condition assessment is a process by which we come up with a health index for a group of assets.  In addition to that, our plans are also based on the results of regular equipment inspections and the results of ongoing preventive maintenance.  The other aspect that drives our investments concerns the actual risk of not moving forward with the necessary expenditures and work.  Those three factors combined are used to establish the recommended level of investment per asset group.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, sir.  I don't wish to actually ask you questions about the asset condition assessment itself.  It's a settled issue, for one thing, and it has been accepted.  I was merely trying to understand if that asset condition assessment was a factor in the plans you've made to increase the budget for 2007 and 2008, and if it was, was the 2003 asset condition assessment also a driver of that -- not of your present budgets, but of your past budgets. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  Again, it's a very simple point.  Perhaps I am making it too complicated.  Something in the 2006 asset condition assessment has prompted you, or driven a higher budget for 2007 and 2008 that was apparently not present in the 2003 asset condition assessment. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  


MS. LEA:  Am I understanding correctly?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The asset condition assessment is one aspect.  The second aspect that we consider is the actual performance of the assets themselves.  


Those two factors combined lead us to determining what the recommended investment levels should be.  So in terms of developing the 2007 and 2008, we did not look at the 2003 asset condition assessment. 


MS. LEA:  I understand that, sir.  I'm obviously not making myself clear.  


There appears to have been less spending that occurred in the years prior to 2007.  Was there anything in the asset condition assessments in 2003 as compared to 2007, that led to a difference in the level of spending you planned for the years prior to 2007 and then for 2007/2008? 


MR. PENSTONE:  To answer your question, I want to make a distinction between the plans that we want to execute, which are based on the factors that I described previously, and the actual execution of that work.  


There are occasions when we plan work to be accomplished and factors beyond our control cause us to, in some cases, spend more in a particular area, or spend less.  Specifically, there are occasions in the past where we planned to do more work than we actually accomplished.  The reduced accomplishment was driven by higher priority work that was unforeseen when the plan was initially established.  


If we use the 2003 asset condition assessment, and we use the assets' performance as the base work for establishing the plan, there can be a difference between   what was planned and what was actually accomplished.  


In some asset groups, the redirection of resources to more important work caused actual expenditures to be less than planned.  What you have on the tables are the actual expenditures.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Mr. Penstone, I am looking at my pages here and not finding what I am looking for.  Can you refer me to a table which shows the sustaining OM&A year over year?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Sustaining OM&A year over year?  


MS. LEA:  Hm-hmm.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Table 1, Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 7.  


MS. LEA:  Actually, the one I -- yes, that's right C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 7.  Thank you.  You and Mr. Thiessen.


There are a couple of specific increases that are proposed that I would like to deal with.  The first is the stations' subset of expenditures.  And I think that at page 10 of that same exhibit we'll see a table related to stations OM&A, so that is Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 10.


There's a significant increase in spending for environmental management in 2006, and that's actual spending; is that right?


MR. PENSTONE:  Actual spending, correct.


MS. LEA:  And there was another ‑‑ there are other significant increases proposed for 2007 and over to 2007, continued in 2008, about 46 percent over 2006, as I understand it.


But there was a fairly significant drop in spending in 2005.  What leads to this pattern?


MR. PENSTONE:  The reduction in 2005?


MS. LEA:  Well, the reduction in 2005 followed by an increase for 2006, 2007 and 2008.


MR. PENSTONE:  The reduction in 2005 was one of the consequences of the strike that occurred.


MR. JAKOB:  If I can just add to that, during the strike, there was a conscious decision made to not undergo additional risk to the power system by undertaking some of our LAR program, or land assessment remediation program.  The reason being is in order to do that work, it requires a transformer coming out of service for a lengthy period of time.  


And with that sort of a situation with the strike, we did not consider that to be a reasonable risk to the organization, so rather than continue on with the land assessment remediation program, we decided not to do that work.


MS. LEA:  In 2005, sir?


MR. JAKOB:  That's correct.  Oh ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Because the number, the spending, is up for land assessment.


MR. JAKOB:  Sorry, sorry.  No.  No, I'm sorry.  Okay, I have to correct that.  It's not LAR.  It's the dealing with fixing of oil leaks associated with those transformers.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And I think you talk about this, and this may assist you.  This reference may assist you.  It is J7, a School Energy Coalition interrogatory, J7, schedule 6.  In this interrogatory, you talk about the fact that some of the increase proposed is due to increased oil leaks.  Do I understand that correctly?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes, that's correct.


MS. LEA:  And part of the reason for the oil leaks that's given in the section 4 of that response is an indication that older leaking units tend to have more -- older units tend to have more leaks?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  When did Hydro One become aware that, in general, transformer tank components over 25 years of age tend to develop leak problems?


MR. JAKOB:  As a natural aging process, we do recognize that transformers do leak as they age.  The gasket material itself does exhibit signs of leaks.  So we were aware of that.


However, as the population continues to age, the number of those leaks continues to grow.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  I guess it's something that I don't understand completely about your evidence, about why the increases proposed for 2007 and 2008 are so significant, and it's this:  Part of the reasons cited for those increases across the board, or in the evidence as a whole, is that the assets are aging, but surely Hydro One would have known it had a suite of aging assets in prior years.


Why was something like the tendency for these components to leak oil as they age not addressed earlier?  Why is it that in 2007 you now begin to address the aging asset factor?


MR. JAKOB:  Okay.  As indicated in J‑7‑6, that's 

J‑7‑6 --


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. JAKOB:  -- item number 2, where we do talk about the oil leak reduction program is one factor.  The other factor is the station spill sump refurbishment.  So this is an indicator that the spill containment around those transformers needs remedial work.  


So it's not necessarily that that is a known factor for many, many years through our asset condition assessment.  Through our performance of those devices, they too are reaching end of life and require remedial work.


MS. LEA:  I don't doubt that, sir, but in the evidence that was given in chief today and in your prefiled evidence in general, and in the interrogatories, there is repeated reference to the problem of aging assets and the need to begin to correct some of the difficulties related to aging assets, and what I don't understand is why Hydro One did not begin to address this in earlier years.


MR. JAKOB:  It's largely due to the increasing volume of oil.  In the past there really wasn't a need to spend larger dollars to remediate those because the oil leaks were small.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  So it's not merely oil leaks that I wanted to ask you about, but perhaps I will turn to some more specific questions and return to this matter at the end of the questions to the panel.  Mr. Rogers.


MR. ROGERS:  Would you mind if I just interjected for a moment?


MS. LEA:  Please.


MR. ROGERS:  I understand the thrust of your question.


I think Mr. Penstone did allude to it in his evidence-in‑chief.  I think the question is:  Hydro One must know that assets are going to age and require more and more maintenance as they age, so why didn't you do something sooner than you did?


MR. PENSTONE:  Simply because the leaks that we're now experiencing were not occurring at the same level or volumes that we're now seeing them.


MS. LEA:  Sir, or maybe Mr. Rogers can help us, I hear you about the leaks, but this comment has been made as an explanation for spending in many areas in 2007 for OM&A and capital, the need to recognize the difficulties posed by aging assets and address them.


You have known for many years that you have an aging system.  Never mind the oil leaks.  Why, in general, was this not addressed earlier?


MR. PENSTONE:  I think the simplest way of explaining that is it took some time before the effects of the aging became evident and required intervention, and we're now seeing ‑‑ and the effects of asset aging varies from asset group to asset group.


What we have experienced on transformers and oil leaks as we have been discussing that is that as the years have gone on, the leaks have increased.  This is no ‑‑ was not a surprise to us and, simply, we respond.  This is a program that responds to oil leaks as opposed to taking a piece of equipment out of service early and doing a full midlife replacement.


What we try to do is, for lack of a better term, just-in-time maintenance.  We could have spent additional maintenance funds sooner and earlier and prevented some of this oil leaking, but, in our minds, that was unnecessary.  So we're in a responsive mode right now.


MS. LEA:  And would you generally extend those comments to aging problems aside from oil leaks in these transformers?  Do you understand my question, sir?


MR. PENSTONE:  I believe ‑‑ let's see if I can rephrase it.  Should we have taken actions earlier?


MS. LEA:  Yes, in general.


MR. PENSTONE:  In general?  Again, the philosophy is to spend the money when it's needed.


We had equipment that five years ago wasn't leaking and was performing well.  So from our perspective and the criteria that we used to establish the need to do work, we would not intervene.  Even though that piece of equipment may be 35 years old, age is -- you know, is a proxy for determining the need for investments.  The actual investments are driven by the condition of the asset, the actual condition of the asset, its actual performance and the actual risks.  


So planning isn't just a function of determining when the asset's birth date happens to be, and then initially that prompts us to take some actions.  


Now, there is one specific exception.  There is some maintenance that has to be done on some of our assets that is definitely time-based, and it's time-based because of regulatory considerations or reliability considerations.  


In that particular vein, it's protection and control, equipment that has to be regularly verified and maintained at prescribed time intervals.  


There are no such intervals for most of our fleet, and as a result, our maintenance is expanded to reflect the current asset conditions.  Otherwise we're going to be spending money before it's required, or undertaking actions before they are required.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you for that answer.  Does Hydro One, in considering where it might direct its efforts, consider information or perhaps research that other utilities have found about the tendency of aging assets to develop problems?  In other words, do you monitor the way assets are performing at other utilities as well, in an attempt to assist Hydro One with its planning?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I will answer your first question.  Do we consider the experience of other utilities?  The answer to that is, yes.  We do that through participation in a number of industry fora where information is exchanged amongst different utilities about their experiences with assets, their performance and what they can expect.  


This is all part and parcel of an exercise where we try to learn from each other's experiences, successes, and in some cases failures.  So, yes, the experience of other utilities is a consideration when we're developing our plans.  I've forgotten your second question, sorry. 


MS. LEA:  I think you answered it in your last phrase.  It is a consideration when you're developing your plans?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  But with respect to, for instance, let's go back to the specific one now, the oil leaks we're talking about.  It was not enough of a consideration for you to say let's do the work early, as opposed to let's do the work when it's definitely needed?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  This goes back to the risk assessment.  We have certain resources available to us, and when you took a look at the risks of an asset that may have been aged, that was not leaking and was performing well, and you contrasted that to the needs of all of our other assets that required other investment, in that particular -- other actions to ensure their performance, in that particular case, that transformer falls well down on our priority list.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  One further question about the environmental management spending, and I will refer you to a specific phrase at Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 13 in the text relating to environmental management.  


That's C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 13.  I wanted you to look at -- it's around line 12 on my copy.  It's the beginning of the second paragraph.  It reads:

~”The level of funding requested will allow Hydro One to address prioritized deficiencies and maintain the current level of removal and disposal of PCB and other regulated waste...", 

and so on.


What are prioritized deficiencies?  Can you give us an explanation or example?  


[Witness panel confers]  


MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of prioritized deficiencies, when deficiencies are identified, we then make an assessment in terms of which are more urgent relative to others.


In this particular situation, depending on the location of a station, and depending on whether there are watersheds close by or streams close by, or whether or not contamination could percolate, the extent to which it could percolate outside of a station, these would be all considerations in determining which station is more important, or which site is more important to address.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  A couple of questions about ancillary systems maintenance.  If we look back at the table at page 10 of this exhibit, and also I think the narrative evidence begins at page 21 -- yes, page 21 of that same exhibit.  You indicate that you propose a 50 percent increase in spending on this program for the test years over the amount you spent in 2006.  


I read the explanation that appears largely on page 23, but I'm not sure that I fully understand why the significant increase is needed now.  Could you please explain the drivers behind the significant increase for ancillary systems maintenance.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The drivers are described starting at line 15 in the bullets.  


MS. LEA:  Mm-hmm.  


MR. PENSTONE:  The first bullet refers to requirements that were established by the Northeast Power Coordinating Council, which establishes reliability standards across northeast and North America.  As one of the consequences of the blackout in 2003 and the restoration efforts that were undertaken following that blackout, the industry assessed the restoration and concluded that it could have been better had our battery systems been in better working order.  When I say "our," it's the industry as a whole.  


As a result of that, they established these new requirements that batteries be tested and their charges be tested on a regular basis, and this would be maintenance that would be above and beyond what our historic prescribed maintenance would be.  


The second bullet, there is actually a typo in that bullet when it refers to increased expenditures to comply with MPPC requirements, in fact those requirements are the requirements of the TSSA, the Technical Standards and Safety Authority - I may have the Ss mixed - whereby our high-pressure air systems were recently deemed to fall under the TSSA regulations, and as a result we would have to follow the maintenance programs prescribed by the TSSA. 


MS. LEA:  They were not under those regulations before, as far as you know?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, there was -- 


MS. LEA:  I don't need a long explanation.  It's -- 


MR. PENSTONE:  The answer is, in our opinion they were not under the regs, and in conversations with the TSSA we agreed that, yes, they would fall under the regulations and we would follow the TSSA requirements.  


MS. LEA:  I think the other two bullet points are more self-explanatory than the first two.  Thank you, sir.  


I would like to turn to some questions about lines now, and I wonder if we could look at page 32 of this same exhibit, C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 32.  It sows the overhead line programs.  A key component of this program is the planned corrective maintenance and projects category.  


For that you propose 100 percent increase for the test year 2007.  You have provided some explanation of this increase at page 36 and also -- I don't think you need to turn it up, but also in interrogatory J7.11, a School interrogatory number 11.  It appears to relate to two lines, specifically they're in difficulty.  


My question here is similar to the question we debated some moments ago.  Why is this problem identified now as opposed to being identified earlier, so that this large lump of spending is not all occurring in one year?


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry, just to clarify, you said that there was going to be a 100 percent increase?


MS. LEA:  Perhaps I'm giving you the wrong figure.  Let's look at the table.  How much of a percent increase is there?


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay, sorry.  You're right.


MR. JAKOB:  Okay.  If I may, it really comes down to, I think, the same answer that we've said a number of times, and that is that through our assessments of the condition of those lines assets, along with the performance of those lines assets, we had determined that, indeed, there were some serious issues that needed to be addressed.  


Sarnia by London, for example, there are two 230 kV lines.  The scope involves the installation of dampers at all of the conductor attachment locations and to repair some damaged conductor.


The Sudbury by Barrie, these are 500 kV circuits and it really consists of two projects, one being replacing of defective tower members, and the second part of it is tightening the guys that hold the towers in place along with coating of foundations.  Again, that was determined through assessments of the condition of those assets, the performance of those assets related to broken conductors, failed components and so on.


MS. LEA:  When did you become aware of these problems?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAKOB:  The specific date, we would have to get back to you on that, but in general speaking, as Mike has said in the past, our 2007 work plans were developed based on information that was available to us in 2005 data.  So it would have likely have been data associated with information collected from the field, asset condition and so on in 2005.


MS. LEA:  Could you have addressed it then, in part, in 2006?


MR. JAKOB:  In fact, some of them were.  For example, the Sudbury by Barrie, the one project, we incurred $2 million in costs working on that specific project, and it has costs actually that go back to 2005.


MS. LEA:  But the large increase for 2007 is still driven by these two -- mainly by these two things?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.


MS. LEA:  I would like to transition, then, to questions about the capital expenditures portion of the evidence.  You will be relieved to hear, panel, that I have far fewer questions about capital than I do about OM&A, but I would like to understand a little bit about, in the sustaining portion of the Hydro One budget -- in the sustaining portion of that budget, what is the relationship between OM&A spending and capital spending.


I guess I have the theory that they should be inversely related.  If you replace old equipment with new equipment, then OM&A you would think would be lower.


Can you comment on this?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's an accurate description.  When you replace a piece of equipment that has reached its end of life, it begins a new life cycle and the maintenance requirements in the new life cycle are far less than what it was when it reached its end of life.


We have made capital investments which have reduced our maintenance requirements.  So, for example, when we installed the telecommunications system, the replacement of our old analogue microwave system, which was a very maintenance-intensive set of assets, the maintenance requirements are now reduced, because of the fibre optics system, than what previously existed for the microwave system.


However, as you replace one piece of equipment that's new, the reduced maintenance that you get from replacing that piece of equipment could be offset by the fact that there are other pieces of equipment whose maintenance requirements are increasing.  


So we haven't reached the point where we are replacing large amounts of assets on, for example, power equipment that would have had a material or significant impact on our corrective maintenance.  


It does impact the corrective maintenance for that particular individual device, but we have very large fleets and the work requirements for the fleet exceed the maintenance efficiencies that we've gained from the individual replacements for types of assets.


MS. LEA:  All right.  So my hopeful idea, that we will begin to see a drop in OM&A as a result of increased capital spending perhaps, is not going to come to fruition in the next couple of years?


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, if you would like to allow us to replace many more assets than what we're proposing, in our view sooner than what's required, then you would see that impact, but our strategy has been to replace them when they reach their end of life and not before.  


MS. LEA:  Okay, thank you.  I wonder if we could then turn to the evidence related to capital spending.  And we see a summary of the transmission capital budget at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 1, and there's a table at page 2 that is helpful, D1, tab 3, schedule 1, page 2.


As I understand this evidence, you are proposing a total ‑‑ no, pardon me, a sustaining ‑‑ just a minute.


I think it is a total increase bottom line of about 70 percent between 2006 and 2007.  Have I got that about right?


MR. CARLETON:  That's about right.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And about a 10 or 11 percent increase from 2007 to 2008?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  And the reasons for this increase are similar to the reasons you have cited already, the aging asset base, the increased forced outages, the asset condition assessment; those factors?


MR. PENSTONE:  In that particular table ‑‑


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  ‑‑ there are -- it also includes a line under development.


MS. LEA:  Yes.


MR. PENSTONE:  The development line refers to investments that are required for new additions for the system, as opposed to investments that are required to ensure the performance of the existing assets.


MS. LEA:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  And those investments will be the subject of panel 2.


MS. LEA:  Yes.  Thank you.  That's a good distinction to make.  So the reasons that I cited apply more to sustaining?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  Was there any particular reason for the drop in spending in 2005 on the total basis?  Was that due to the strike or were there other reasons?


MR. CARLETON:  There was a significant drop in development capital, and that was ‑‑ the strike would have been part of it.  Another part of it was in 2004 we had major expenditures on our Parkway TS, and so those were dropping off in 2005. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  Now, I believe in interrogatory and in the Technical Conference, we raised a concern as to whether Hydro One would actually be able to accomplish the ambitious capital program that you have in mind going forward.


Has Hydro One ever before undertaken such a large suite of programs or a large program of capital spending in one year?


MR. CARLETON:  No, we haven't.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  And you may want to have a look at Interrogatory J‑1‑70.  That's Board Staff J‑1‑70.  You responded to our concern in that interrogatory.  I wonder if you could expand a little bit on that answer.


In order to achieve your goals, will you, for example, increase hiring of regular staff or increase your use of outside contractors?  What about equipment supply problems?


If you could address, please, how you intend to fulfil your ‑‑ the mandate you have set for yourself.


MR. CARLETON:  We will be doing all of those things, as well as a few others.


First of all, we will be trying to contract out significant portions of it.  We will be looking at our internal resourcing.  We have hired quite a number of apprentices.  We have hired quite a number of non‑regular staff, temporary staff.  


We are also looking at our material requirements, so forecasting what materials we need, trying to lock up production capacity to make sure they will be delivered on time.


We are also looking for cost efficiencies, how can we do things better, how can we do it cheaper, quicker.  We will also be looking at the way we do things in processes.  We've got a number of those initiatives and we're trying to deliver on the work program as we forecasted.


MS. LEA:  What problems do you anticipate having to face in achieving these ambitious goals?  


MR. CARLETON:  There will be a number of challenges.  One will be some of the development capital, which will be discussed on Panel 2.  There are still some approvals we need before we can actually proceed with some of the work.  


We also are competing in a marketplace where there is competition for resources, competition for material.  We do believe we have a good track record of delivering on those types of things -- delivering the Parkway project, which is about 15 months ahead of our original plan because of the need.  There will be challenges, but we are certainly actively pursuing them.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  I know this is a rate base question, but in general, if there is some risk that the capital projects will not be achieved in the planned time frame, will the ratepayers be paying higher rates than they should if the rate base is not adjusted?  In other words, if this Board puts into -- would there be a problem there?  


MR. CARLETON:  No, there wouldn't be.  For the actual spend in 2007, where we had forecasted the in-service additions, we certainly expect to at least put in that amount of assets in service of the 2007 spend.  


Any risks of things that may not get done this year would not likely be impacting rate base for 2008 or 2009 beyond that period.  So we don't believe the money we are planning to spend in 2007 that was forecast for the rate base -- it will get spent.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Just to elaborate on that point as well.  We are in fact making investments that were not foreseen when the business plan was generated or, for that matter, when the refresh was made to this evidence.  And these are capital investments that have been prompted by significant incidents on our power system.  Or, again, factors outside of our control.  


Further to George's point, our capital spend and our work in 2007 in fact goes beyond the projects and programs that we've identified here due to factors that were outside of our control.  


MS. LEA:  Sir, perhaps I am not being too bright about this.  I don't follow what it is you're trying to say, there.  


MR. PENSTONE:  When we put the evidence together, when we generated the business plan, we did not anticipate that we would have a major transformer failure in northeastern Ontario just before Christmas.  And that transformer failure is causing us to spend in and around $5 million dollars in order to clean up the damage and replace the transformer.  So that's an example of a capital expenditure that was not forecast and not included in our prefiled evidence.  


We also had an incident -- 


MS. LEA:  Sorry, and you are not proposing the Board factor that into rates at this time, either?  


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  


MS. LEA:  No, okay.  That was really all I wanted to understand from your answer.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  


MS. LEA:  I wonder if you could have a look for a moment at an interrogatory J-1-71, a Board Staff interrogatory, number 71.  In this interrogatory, Staff asked you to provide a breakdown of costing components for the capital expenditures.  For example, how much of the budget is attributable to capitalized labour cost or capitalized supplies.  


You indicated, in the answer, that the data was not available.  I wonder if you could just tell us why that is.  


MR. CARLETON:  When we put the capital work program together, at that point in time -- in fact each of our capital projects at a different point in time have more detailed information.  Although we may know for a certain replacement of capital it costs $20 million, because we've done them before, we see what they cost; however, at that point we won't have a detailed breakdown of how many regular hours, how much will be contracting out, how much of different material would cost.  We know what it will cost overall pretty good on that estimate.  But how that breaks down into identifying of the internal labour, our burdens, our contract hours, fleet costs, we don't have that level of detail broken down at that point in time.  


MS. LEA:  Would that level of detail be useful to you?  


MR. CARLETON:  That level of detail is certainly useful to us as we release the work and we start the work.  So when we have to start scheduling the work, we will need to know the labour hours, we will need to put contracts in place, we'll need to get the fleet arranged, material delivered, yes.  But to have that forecast for 2008 at this point, we just haven't that level of detail. 


MS. LEA:  I see.  So the issue here is really timing.  You can have it for the past projects, but you don't have it for the future. 


MR. CARLETON:  Correct.  Or we will have it for some projects that are going to start in the next three months, but we wouldn't have it for those starting in 2008, for instance.  


MS. LEA:  If I could have a moment, please.  


Would it be something that you could include perhaps in your cornerstone project as a tool for forecasting expenditures?  Could you update your IT systems to allow this level of detail to be collected?  Would it be useful?  


MR. CARLETON:  I personally think it would be useful.  I would have to talk to the cornerstone team.  In fact maybe at Panel 3 we could address that. 


MR. ROGERS:  There is a witness who can address cornerstone. 


MS. LEA:  All right.  Perhaps we will ask that as a possibility.  Could you make a note of that? 


A few questions then on the specifics.  I'm looking at Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 2.  D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 2.  Updated.  No -- yes.  No, wait a minute.  


I guess I'm looking at page 3.  Sorry, I’m getting mixed up between my bits of evidence here.  So D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 3.  We have a chart of the sustaining capital program costs; am I right?  


I think there's an increase of just over 60 percent between 2006 and 2007 for the overall budget.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, we will accept your math. 


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, that's correct.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  When we look more particularly at the increases, I would like to look at the stations' costing because there we have an increase of over 100 percent, as I understand this table.  The evidence for that begins, we start to discuss it in narrative form.  You start to discuss it at page 4.  


At page 6 there is a table which breaks down the stations' budget.  So D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 6.  For the circuit breakers, when one looks at the figures in the first row, then, on the row relating to circuit breakers, it looks as if the spending curve is quite erratic.  There is an increase of '03 to '04, a decrease in 2004 to 2005; another decrease 2005 to 2006; a very large increase 2006 to 2007; and a slightly lesser increase in 2007, 2008.  Is there any reason for this rather peculiar spending pattern?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  Would you like to hear the -- 


MS. LEA:  No.  


Yes.  I think there is an interrogatory that gets into this a little bit, J-5-78, the VECC interrogatory number 78, J-5-78.  So, yes, I would like to hear about it, and you may wish to refer to that interrogatory.  


MR. PENSTONE:  All right.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Excuse me, Madam Chair.  While the witnesses are turning that up, I understand we're no longer on the air.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  It was on when we began.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  It's obviously the same little gremlin that turned my mike off earlier.  I need to do some spending, yes.  


SPEAKER:  Some sustaining investment.


MS. LEA:  Or maybe just pay the hydro bill.  


Okay, Mr. Penstone, you offered a general explanation for the increase in circuit breakers, or somebody on the Panel.  It doesn't matter who, of course.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  In 2005, the figure of $2.5 million refers to the actual expenditures as opposed to the planned.  That was -- work accomplishments were less than planned due to the labour dispute with the Society.


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, related to what?


MR. PENSTONE:  Sorry?


MS. LEA:  The expenditures were less than planned due to...


MR. PENSTONE:  Oh, I'm sorry.  They're the same as planned.  They were less ‑‑ they were less than 2004.  The reasons that they were less relates to the Society labour dispute and the inability to get outages, and other priority work, which caused us to redirect resources.


MS. LEA:  What do you mean by the inability to get outages?


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay.  In order to replace equipment, we require safe working conditions to be established where equipment is isolated and de-energized.  In other words, the equipment is taken out of service; not only the piece that is actually being worked on, but also elements surrounding that piece of equipment, as well.


So when I refer to an outage, it is the ability to remove that equipment from service and do the work.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What about 2006?  Why is spending at its lowest point in that year?


MR. PENSTONE:  Originally that was planned to be $3.2 million and the accomplishment was less than planned.  Again, that was due to inability to get to the necessary outages, delays in getting materials from vendors and redirection of staff to higher priority development capital projects.


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  What leads you into a situation where you cannot get the outages to create a safe working condition?


MR. PENSTONE:  In the Ontario market structure, we need the IESO's permission to take equipment out of service, to ensure that removing that equipment does not have an adverse reliability impact.  So it's essentially the impact of taking the equipment out of service on either the power system or our customers.


MS. LEA:  All right.  How about system reinvestment, which also shows a very large increase in 2007 and there was a spending cut in 2004?  Is there any particular driver of that pattern of spending?  


I'm going to ask you the same question for the other power equipment, and protection, control and monitoring program, so there may be common drivers or not.  I don't know.


MR. PENSTONE:  Give me a minute.  The system re-investment expenditures in 2004 were low as a result of redirecting staff to actually construct the Parkway station and to complete and to undertake work at Cooksville.  Both of those projects were priority projects to enable the shutdown of the Lakeview generating station.


MS. LEA:  I see.  And the other power equipment, protection, control and monitoring?


MR. PENSTONE:  Protection, control and monitoring --


MS. LEA:  It's two lines I'm asking about at once.  It's just that they show a similar pattern, that's all.


MR. PENSTONE:  All right.  The P&C expenditures are driven by the fact that we have a number of assets under that category that have reached their end of life.  This is what is evidenced in the asset condition assessment, that recognized that around 10 percent of our protection systems ‑ and we have 10,000 protection systems ‑ are in poor or very poor condition.


As a result, we have to replace them.  Those protection systems have to be reliable in order to ensure the reliability of the transmission system and to meet the requirements of MPPC [phon].  So the P&C investments are driven by the fact that we have a lot of protection systems in poor condition.


Other power equipment...


[Witness panel confers]


MR. JAKOB:  Other power equipment, which includes typically power equipment other than transformers and breakers, the ‑‑ in 2004, 11.6 million was targeted to address end of life, specific end-of-life equipment at that time.


In 2005, we saw the reduction, again, for redirection associated with the strike to other higher priority work, including some of the system development elements that Mike spoke of.


In 2006, it was $8.1 million, and this was related to outages, and then the increase in 2007 to 14.9 is addressing end-of-life assets.


MS. LEA:  Okay.  The last thing I wanted to ask you about was the lines component of this budget, and we see a table dealing with a line "sustaining capital", Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, page 21.


The underground lines, cables refurbishment and replacement, again the spending was very low in 2006 here, unlike the rest of this table, which seems to show fairly steady investment over the years.  The underground lines, cables refurbishment and replacement, are there different drivers, then, for that category of equipment as opposed to the other two categories which are listed in this table?  


In other words, the spending seems relatively ‑‑ not particularly inconstant for the first two sections, but fairly erratic for underground lines, cables refurbishment and replacement.  I am wondering if there is different drivers.


MR. PENSTONE:  In general, the underground cables are -- according to our asset condition assessment, are in good condition.


However, notwithstanding the good condition, we have to undertake a capital project to relocate an underground cable that is located just east of Union Station.  We have to relocate that line at the request of CN Rail, who are expanding their rail yard to accommodate expansion of the Go Transit system.


MS. LEA:  Do they make a contribution to the cost?


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  The reason being is the cables are there on ‑‑ we have an easement, and under the conditions of that easement, the railway can ask us to relocate our plant.


MS. LEA:  Just one moment, please.  


Thank you very much, gentlemen.  


Thank you, Madam Chair.  Those are my questions for this panel.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Do the intervenors have an order amongst them or do you know who wishes to go next?  I am assuming Mr. DeVellis or Mr. Buonaguro, just because you asked for the most time.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I have no problem with going next.  That's fine.


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me.  There is a slight logistical problem.  Mr. DeVellis sent on Friday afternoon, I understand, some tables that he wanted to use and I did not see them; hence, the witnesses have not seen them yet.  


I don't think it is going to present a problem, but what I would suggest is that he not go now, but, rather, go after lunch.  Hopefully they will have had a chance to look at the spreadsheets over the noon hour at least, so if someone else could go first, it would probably be more efficient.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Or take the lunch now.


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Buonaguro, are you prepared to go now?


MR. ROGERS:  Or the other alternative, I suppose, is to break now and come back 15 minutes earlier.


MS. NOWINA:  That is the other alternative.  We'll see how Mr. Buonaguro feels.


MR. BUONAGURO:  Actually, I was going to try and use the computer system to put up my ‑‑


MS. NOWINA:  Over lunch?


MR. BUONAGURO:  Do that over lunch as an experiment in using the technology.


MS. NOWINA:  Lunch now.  We will have a longer afternoon.  So we will break now until 1:15.  We will begin, then, with whichever, Mr. Buonaguro or Mr. DeVellis.  Mr. DeVellis.  Thank you.


‑‑‑ Luncheon recess taken at 12:14 p.m.

--- Upon resuming at 1:19 p.m. 


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated.  Mr. Buonaguro, have we hired you?  


MR. BUONAGURO: Almost.  


MS. LEA:  We want to.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.  


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think my microphone is working.  The light isn't on.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS: 


MR. ROGERS:  In any event there are two matters I wish to raise.  The first is that we have looked at the documents Mr. DeVellis sent to me late Friday afternoon.  I think the witnesses can deal with these questions this afternoon.  


We understand as well he sent it to Mr. Toneguzzo, but it wasn't received by Mr. Toneguzzo.  That's why we didn't have the documents this morning.  I was away from my office late Friday afternoon.  Could I ask people, please, henceforth to send a copy to Mr. Glen MacDonald at Hydro One, who is the most efficient member of the team.  He will see that they get distributed.



MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, go ahead.  I will interrupt you afterwards.  


MR. ROGERS:  Well, I wanted to ask Mr. Thiessen one question.  He made a mistake just before lunch and he is very anxious to correct it for my friend.


MS. NOWINA:  Before you get into that, another administrative matter about documents.  I see in my e-mail we received a number of Hydro One documents over the weekend, or late on Friday. 


MR. ROGERS:  I think that was the financial statements.  


MS. LEA:  Yes, that's right.  


MS. NOWINA:  My question is, and this is in fairness to the parties:  When will those documents be used?  I know they're just part of the record evidence, but -- 


MR. ROGERS:  First of all, I should say I forgot to say this morning we do have hard copies here for people in the courtroom -- or in the hearing room. 


MS. NOWINA:  All right. 


MR. ROGERS:  The financial statement issue is a taxation issue... 


MS. NOWINA:  Right. 


MR. ROGERS:  ...which I think Board Staff was concerned about and won't come up for many days.  


MS. LEA:  There was one part of that document series that I believe relates to Panel 2, the justification for some the projects in the IESO and OPA filing.  So I will be asking any questions I may have about that from Panel 2  


I spoke to my friend Mr. Rogers about this because I didn't feel we might necessarily be ready to proceed on Tuesday with the examination of those documents, and he very kindly agreed that if by some chance Panel 2 starts early, that he would give me leave to return to them on Thursday with the appropriate panel.  


MR. ROGERS:  Sure.  The same goes with my other friends too. 


MS. NOWINA:  That's fine.  So just a reminder again in terms of giving each other as much notice as we possibly can, it appears there is enough notice for those documents and for the SEC documents that you received on Friday. 


MR. ROGERS:  I would like you to be aware, Ms. Nowina, that those financial statements were only completed, they were hot off the press when they were filed with the Board.  They were filed as soon as we could.  In fact, the auditors paid a lot attention to make sure those were done in time for this hearing to start.  I would like you to aware they were filed as soon as they could be. 


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, and I appreciate that.  


MR. ROGERS:  I would just like to have, if you don't mind, rather than later.


Mr. Penstone, I understand that you, in answer to a question from Ms. Lea just before lunch may have misstated some evidence or something you would like to correct.  Would you do that now and give her an explanation as to how you could make such a mistake?  


[Laughter]  


MR. PENSTONE:  I need a little bit of sustainment or midlife refurbishment.  


The correction concerns a question that Ms. Lea asked me concerning essentially the lumpiness or sporadic nature of the investments on lines sustaining capital.  


MS. LEA:  Yes.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Specifically Exhibit D1, tab 3, schedule 2, table 3.  The question related to the explanation to explain why underground lines, cables, refurbishment and replacement was so up and down.  


I misspoke when I explained that the investments in 2007, one of the investments was related to the relocation of the cable on the CN right of way.  In fact, that will not be considered sustainment capital.  In reality, the explanation for the investments in 2007 and 2008 is well described in the prefiled evidence, specifically on page 29 of 34, and between lines 7 and 15.  


If you wish, I can read that.  I believe it addresses your question directly, Ms. Lea.  Or we can just leave it as a reference.  


MS. LEA:  Why don't I look at that, Mr. Penstone.  I had read it.  My question had more to do with the fact that that particular type of line spending appeared to exhibit a different pattern of spending than the other types of line spending.  


So I think I understood why 2007/2008 were going up in the company's view.  It had more to do with whether the drivers were different for the underground systems as compared to the other line spending.  I'm not presuming that everything has to be flat every year.  It's just that that line in the chart showed a very different pattern of spending in the first two lines in the chart.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  Just a couple of comments.  Our underground network has a different characteristics and requirements than our overhead lines.  It is also much smaller.  It's is a much smaller network, in the range of between 250 and 300 circuit kilometres, as opposed to 29,000 circuit kilometres in total.  


What is consistent is the fact that we make investments as the need arises, and as you can imagine, when you have a smaller network like this, you can have periods where needs don't arise for one year or two years, and then when they do arise it suddenly causes a substantial proportional increase in your expenditures --  


MS. LEA:  Yes, there is --


MR. PENSTONE:  -- and that's what occurred here. 


MS. LEA:  -- less averaging out with the system, because there is less in the system to begin with. 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's right. 


MS. LEA:  Thank you, that's helpful.  Thank you, Mr. Rogers.  


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.  Thank you, very much.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. DeVellis.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, Madam Chair.  As Mr. Rogers indicated, I did hand out, or send out, some documents Friday afternoon.  There are four documents.  The first one I will be referring to is actually an excerpt from an interrogatory response, but it's in a different area of the evidence so I just brought along copies so people didn't have to fish through binders.  That is Exhibit J-7, schedule 33, attachment 17.  The other three are new documents and I will ask for exhibit numbers for them.  


The first is the spreadsheet entitled "Hydro One Transmission OM&A Overview."  


MS. LEA:  I have a spreadsheet "Hydro One Transmission OM&A Overview."  You asked me for an exhibit for that one, Mr. DeVellis?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, please. 


MS. LEA:  L-1-1.  Please.  


EXHIBIT NO. L-1-1:  SPREADSHEET ENTITLED: "HYDRO ONE 


TRANSMISSION OM&A OVERVIEW" 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  The next document - I will go in the order that I will be referring to them - that is a document which says "Rate Order Application, OHSC Transmission," and it's appendix E, entitled "Strategy Document, Transmission Station Refurbishment and Replacement."  


MS. LEA:  L-1-2.  


EXHIBIT NO. L-1-2:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED: "STRATEGY 


DOCUMENT, TRANSMISSION STATION REFURBISHMENT AND 


REPLACEMENT"

MR. DeVELLIS:  And the last exhibit is a spreadsheet entitled "Hydro One Transmission 2007." 


MS. LEA:  That's OM&A benchmark.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  


MS. LEA:  L-1-3.  


EXHIBIT NO. L-1-3:  SPREADSHEET ENTITLED “HYDRO ONE 


TRANSMISSION 2007"


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  


MR. LONG:  Let my interrupt for a moment.  I wondered if it was handed out to everybody. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I handed it out to some of the intervenors, but not all of them. 


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have any more copies?  


MS. LEA:  I have one additional here.  I have a complete set here, Mr. DeVellis. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  I did send them out by e-mail as well.  I understand some people didn't receive them, so thank you.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. DeVELLIS:

MR. DeVELLIS:  Good afternoon, panel.  My name is John DeVellis.  I represent the School Energy Coalition.  The first area I wanted to ask about is in relation to -- Ms. Lea asked you some questions regarding the sort of underspending or spending in OM&A below the Board-approved amounts in historic years. 


 I think, Mr. Penstone, you said that the impact of that, of spending below the Board approved amount, is an increase in net income.  Do you recall that discussion with Ms. Lea this morning?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  I beg your pardon.  If I could direct you to the first document I will refer to.  It's the excerpt from Exhibit J, tab 7, schedule 33, attachment 17.  


I am just trying to get at the degree of Hydro One transmission's net earnings or net income above the Board-approved amounts for the historic period.  At page 3 of the document -- sorry, this is a document from CIBC World Markets, a corporate -- debt research corporate outlook.


There is a table at the -- figure 2 at the bottom of page 3 of the exhibit where CIBC World Markets estimates transmission ‑‑ Hydro One transmission's excess earnings from 2002 to 2005.  Is that correct?  Okay.


At the bottom, they have 79.3 million in 2002, ranging up to 90.6 million in 2005.  Will you accept, subject to check, that the average over-earnings for that period, the average of those four numbers, is $70.7 million?


MR. CARLETON:  I think it's fair to say none of this panel is familiar with this document nor what information was provided to CIBC World Markets in developing this table.  The suggestion might be to raise this with the later panel.  Panel 4, I believe, might be better to speak to this.


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fair enough.  The point here is not to establish the exact numbers, but to establish that there was fairly large levels of over-earnings during these periods.  You wouldn't dispute that?


MR. CARLETON:  On the transmission side, I believe we ‑‑ we made net income, yes.  Whether -- the amount of over-earnings I can't speak to myself.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  If we go to ‑‑ you don't have to turn it up, but at Exhibit E, tab 17, schedule 2 is the company's evidence with respect to the earnings sharing mechanism.  And depending on your view with respect to the company ‑‑ what the company called prior period adjustments, the amount of over-earnings for 2006 is either 35.9 million, if you accept the prior period adjustments, or 66.1 million, if you don't accept them.  


Would you take that subject to check, as well?


MR. CARLETON:  Subject to check.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, I would like to refer you next to Exhibit L1.1.  This is the Hydro One Transmission OM&A overview.


What we've done there is taken your evidence with respect to various OM&A categories.  You can see on the back I have development and operations, as well, and, over various years, and what I have included is the 2006 original amount in column 4 there, as well as the updated amounts.


Then there is some percent changes in columns 10 to 13.  What we see there are large increases in the test years over most categories.  In particular, if you look at row 24, that's the sustaining OM&A total, at column 10 the percent change in the test year average, 2008 -- 2007, 2008 versus the average of the historical period, 2003 to 2006, and that's the ‑‑ for 2006, I have used the updated 2006 figure of 179 million.


That increase is 24 percent above the historic period in column 10.  I know you haven't had a chance to review the spreadsheet, but will you accept that figure, subject to check?


MR. CARLETON:  Okay.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  And if we look at the next column over, you see some large variation in the year-over-year amounts, 2007 versus 2006.  Column 11 is 2007 versus the original ‑‑ sorry, the updated 2006, and it's an 11.8 percent increase.


But if we were to take the original 2006 - that's the 2006 figure as originally filed in September - it's actually a 28 percent increase in 2007 versus the original 2006.  Again, will you accept that subject to check?  Thank you.


If we look up to row 15, what we've done there is taken the total of sustained development and operations and we have similar percentage increases and similar variations, depending on whether you use the original and updated figures.  Do you see that?


MR. CARLETON:  I see that.


MR. DeVELLIS:  The reason we have done that is to try to eliminate the effect of the variations and shared services and other OM&A, which have decreased, but have had a corresponding increase in the distribution business; is that right?


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry, what's that last comment?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Sorry.


MR. CARLETON:  Shared services and other have decreased over the period, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  And as a result of that, there have been corresponding increases to the distribution business?


MR. CARLETON:  No.  Costs would have decreased.  Distribution doesn't play into it, at all.  There's that minor amount of a few million.  There was some dollars spent, but typically this is a reduction from 125 million down to 57 million.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, with respect to the change between the original 2006 numbers and the updated 2006 numbers, I have some specific questions later, but in terms of sort of a higher level view, can you tell me when the original 2006 forecasts were made?


MR. CARLETON:  Our April forecast, April 2006.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And as a result of the earnings sharing mechanism implemented by the Board last year, any increases in spending in OM&A are charged 50 percent to the shareholder and 50 percent to the ratepayers, in terms of the impact on Hydro One's net income?


MR. CARLETON:  I believe that's the case.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, with respect to the increases in 2007, we heard your discussion this morning in chief with Ms. Lea, and one of the major reasons you give is that the aging assets -- change in the asset conditions.  Do you recall that discussion?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  And Ms. Lea asked you why -- if you knew why that the assets were aging, why you didn't address the issues earlier.  I believe your answer was that you didn't have the data with respect to increased failure rates or deteriorating performance issues earlier.


MR. PENSTONE:  A couple of things.  The information did not suggest that the aging assets at that time posed a risk that would prompt us to make investments.  The risks of those assets were low enough that we did not have to make investments at that time.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  You referred us to your answer to Board Staff's IR No. 22.  That was Exhibit J, tab 21, schedule 22, where you had the two charts with the performance statistics.


My overall question is:  Are you basing the increase in -- large increases in sustainment OM&A on the differences in performance data that you have observed over one year?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's one aspect of it.  The other aspect that prompts us to determine that an asset is at its end of life or requires additional maintenance is the actual condition of the asset.  And the condition of the asset is documented in the asset condition assessments that have been filed.  


In addition, we also get additional information as a result of the ongoing planned maintenance activities that are undertaken on those assets, as well.  The other aspects that would drive sustainment capital cost to increase is the determination that an asset is at its end of life.  And in addition to poor performance, poor condition, other factors that are used to determine end of life include technical obsolescence, the fact we couldn't get specific parts, the fact we can't get vendor support, and in addition, at the end of the day the maintenance costs become exorbitant for a particular facility, and from a life cycle perspective, now is the time to replace them. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I understand that, but I guess my question was, the only difference that you have observed in say 2006, when you're applying for 2007 versus earlier years, was a difference in performance measures.  The other things you mentioned you would have known before.  Isn't that right?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The information on all of those other aspects gets updated on a regular basis.  We can have information coming back about the condition of an asset or groups of assets that changes from one year to the next, so that's also subject to change, as well.  


Likewise, the maintenance costs associated with an asset can change on a year-to-year basis.  All of those elements are sort of reviewed as these plans are developed.  It is just not the performance aspect.  


What I wanted to highlight, though, was certainly the performance of a number of other assets is deteriorating to the point that it becomes the overriding factor in prompting us to either do more maintenance or to replace equipment.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you turn to Exhibit L-1-2.  This document was part of your 1998 rate proceeding.  Is that right?  


MR. ROGERS:  I don't think any of these men were involved in that, but I believe that's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.  


Do any of the members of the panel –- are you familiar with this document?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  The document is titled "Strategy Document, Transmission Station Refurbishment and Replacement."  


Can you tell me what the impetus for preparing the document was?  


MR. JAKOB:  Could you repeat the question?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Can you tell me what the impetus for preparing this document was?  


MR. JAKOB:  The document is prepared to really create a road map on where we need to go with certain aspects of our assets.  In particular, this looks at transmission station, refurbishment and placement as a whole as opposed to individual components.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  If I could direct you to the bottom of page 45 of the exhibit.  At the bottom there, under 2.0 -- it's the second page of the handout that I provided, 2.0, "Scope of the strategy."  It says:

~"The TSR&R strategy provides a comprehensive framework for planning and managing transmission station investments in a coordinated and integrated manner dealing with the increasing population of stations approaching the end of their service lives.  The strategy also defines a set of assessments such that refurbishment options can be prepared and prioritized against a consistent set of criteria in order to prepare investment recommendations."


Is it fair to say that this document was used to support a certain level of OM&A expenditure in your 1998 rate proceeding?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, this would be capital expenditures. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Actually I'm not sure if that's true.  If you look at the next paragraph beginning at line 6 on this page:

~"The strategy complements existing provincewide component replacement programs and ongoing maintenance programs in order to minimize the overall costs and the impact on the integrated transmission system due to outage requirements."  


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  The key word there is complement, so that I think the point it is trying to make is that we undertake three types of investments; right?  


We can go into a station and replace an individual component that has reached its end of life.  We can go into the station and maintain existing equipment at that stage.  Or, we can go into a station and do a comprehensive refurbishment of multiple pieces of equipment or assets.  


This document addresses the latter, where you go in and you are making a substantive change to multiple systems within a station.  And it's most effective to do it on an integrated station approach, as opposed to a piecemeal individual asset by individual asset.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  But the document identifies the problem of aging assets; is that right?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Weren't you communicating to the Board at the time a strategy to deal with those aging assets in 1998?  


MR. PENSTONE:  To Mr. Rogers earlier point, none of us were involved in the application at that time.


I can speculate that you're right.  It makes sense, but I can't confirm it. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Do any of the members of the panel know what happened in reaction to -- as follow-up to this document?  


MR. ROGERS:  First of all, can I just interrupt?  I'm sorry.  Is this a document that is normally used in planning processes within the company back then, do you know, or was it prepared specifically for a rate case?  


MR. PENSTONE:  The document reflects the approach that's been used within the company to manage this particular type of an investment.  


I can only presume that -- at the top it says:  "Rate order application" -- that it was prepared deliberately for that particular rate submission.  


MR. ROGERS:  But does it describe the normal processes of the company at the time so far as you know, Mr. Penstone?  


MR. PENSTONE:  I want to be careful here.  It makes sense, based on the approaches that we're currently using.  I was not directly involved in this type of work in 1998, but it's consistent with our current approaches.  


MR. ROGERS:  The question really was, I think, what did the Board do with it.  I don't know that these witnesses could answer that question.  


MS. NOWINA:  It appears not.  Mr. DeVellis, can you go ahead without that response?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fine.  


I'm going to refer you to one other portion, but I will put the statement to you.  I can understand you probably won't be able to comment, but in fairness I will put it to you.  That's at page 48 of the document.  At the bottom, under the graph, it says:

~"The overall condition of the components in stations depends not only on age but on past faults, overloaded situation, utilization, duty as well as the quality of maintenance.  It is important, therefore, to consider all aspects of condition and performance in a comprehensive life assessment of these assets."


Again, none of the members of the panel can help me with whether what's discussed there was ever acted on?  


MR. PENSTONE:  In fact that's an accurate statement of how we manage this program at the present time.  


We determined the need for the investments, not simply because an asset is of a certain age, but these are some of the additional considerations that are taken into account to determine the level of maintenance and whether you need to replace an asset.  


Previously I made reference to the operating environment that an asset happened to be under.  When they talk about past faults, overloaded conditions, utilization, duty, that all relates to the operating environment.  In other words, how was that asset treated in its history?  


You can have two identical assets, both the same age, both subject to the same maintenance, but one of them had been consistently overloaded, had seen a lot of faults, and, as a result of that, you would expect its condition to be worse and to be closer to its end of life.  That's, in essence, what this paragraph is trying to say, and that is, again, an accurate reflection of the factors that we take into account.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, I heard you, in your examination-in‑chief and in response to questions from Ms. Lea, say that ‑‑ I think I asked you about this earlier.  You didn't address issues of aging assets in the past, you didn't increase spending in the past, because you didn't see performance issues until very recently -- performance issues deteriorating until very recently.


But isn't it possible that the increase in performance issues today is a result of not doing the spending in the past?  In other words, you knew the assets were aging.  You knew that performance issues would arise from that, and, as a result of not addressing it, isn't it possible that the large increases we're talking about now are a result of not addressing them earlier?


MR. PENSTONE:  It is hard to answer that question, all right.  I suppose it's possible, but we believe our maintenance practices in the past ensured that -- they were designed to ensure that the assets performed properly and were -- achieved their expected end of life.


In many cases, we've described failures that we're experiencing.  For example, the leaking transformer, you cannot do any maintenance, other than an expensive intrusive maintenance in advance to prevent a leak from occurring.


So our view is to respond to that type of failure once it has manifest itself, rather than doing it in advance of that, because, again, that particular piece of equipment poses very, very little risk, and you have to remember that we are trying to determine where investments are made on multiple assets and we would expect that if we're making those types of investments on assets with very little risk, we would also be making comparable types of investments on all of our remaining fleet.


So we would, you know, be ‑‑ our rights of way would be pristine.  Our wood poles would be replaced sooner, prematurely.  Conductors, insulators would be replaced, you know, or maintained and polished, for lack of a better word, without necessarily having much of a performance impact or mitigating environmental, health and safety, or reliability risks.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Ms. Lea asked you about Exhibit C1, tab 4, schedule 2, some questions.  Would you mind turning that up?


If you could turn to table 1 again on page 6, can you help us understand why it is the savings, efficiency savings, were much greater in the historic period than you've projected them to be in the test years?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  Typically we undertook cost savings.  We look for the easiest gains, the big wins first, some big issues like making some major consolidations.  For instance, we put an old company back together.  We centralized asset management, a lot of centralization, a lot of what is typically called the low‑hanging fruit.  


We've got those savings, and then as you look for the next round, they become more and more difficult.  They become things around, How do we change processes to get efficiencies, which is much more difficult than doing some of the other issues.


How do you get increase in improvements across multi-functional groups?  How do you do some of those things which take a lot more work, a lot more energy.  Also, savings are really hard to quantify.


What we've provided here are those that we can quantify.  There might be other savings out there that we don't show savings at.  We're doing things better.  We are doing work more efficiently, but to actually measure on a dollar basis what that might mean, it is very difficult to do.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And this table shows efficiencies, but in terms of the variations in spending between the Board-approved amounts and the actual spending in the historic period, part of it was due, I understand, from efficiencies, but part of it also from decreases in accomplishments during those years?


MR. CARLETON:  First of all, the cost savings were identified here.  Typically what we did was we re-invested that in the work programs.  So it wasn't a matter of taking dollars out.  We needed to get more work done, get more accomplishments, how we would do that to get these efficiencies, and that was rolled back in.


The issue of -- I think you indicated over-earnings.  Was that the second part of your question?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  No, that's not what I was getting at, but if you could give the variations in spending between the Board-approved amounts and the actual amounts.


MR. CARLETON:  The spending limits on an annual basis were based on the work program prioritization, the process that Mr. Penstone talked about, each year as we went into business planning, what did the assets need; and that was the investment plan for each of those years during the process.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, if I could ask you to turn to Exhibit L1.3.


Actually, before I get there, I have some questions regarding the P.A. Consulting study, and that's at Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment A.


You may want to turn that up.


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, what was that again?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment A, page 4-8.


MR. PENSTONE:  What's the reference?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Exhibit A, tab 15, schedule 2, attachment A, page 4 ‑‑


MR. PENSTONE:  Attachment A?


MR. DeVELLIS:  The actual study, yes, page 4-8.


And on this page, you see the various cost metrics that P.A. Consulting uses, and now what we see, first of all, is that Hydro One ranks among the highest in most categories, highest costs.


MR. CARLETON:  I don't ‑‑ I'm not sure I see that.  I see we range from Q1 through Q4.


MR. DeVELLIS:  O&M lines and substations per megawatt transmitted, Hydro One is Q4, which would be the highest.


MR. CARLETON:  On that item, yes.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Okay.


MR. PENSTONE:  In fact, I think that may go to address one of your questions about the extent to which we may have under-maintained our assets.


I mean, this suggests that our operation and maintenance for lines and substations is top quartile, if I'm reading this right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, I think ‑‑


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  We spend more in O&M on lines and substations than other utilities involved in the benchmarking exercise.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, that's one way to look at it, but another way to look at it is that it costs you more to maintain the system per kilometre, or per whatever the benchmark is, than other utilities.


MR. CARLETON:  It's very difficult to pick one item and identify what that means.  I could pick another one to say expenditures per line miles and it says we're Q1, so we have a huge line spread all over the province and yet we still manage to be Q1.  Q4 on megawatts hours transmitted; yes, we're Q4.  In many cases, that could be because of the number of stations we have in order to supply this province is more than another utility's.  


So although, yes, we see rankings we see metrics, what this leads us to do is to go and study these utilities to see why it is they are where they are and if there are any learnings we can get from it.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  The methodology that PA used was to take an average of 2003, 2004, 2005 and compare the various utilities.  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  What we have tried to do is in Exhibit L-1-3 take two benchmarks that were available to us and extend it to 2006, 2007, and to a certain degree, 2008.  


You see the benchmarks we used are from Hydro One's annual report, and what we've used is total transmission lines and units transmitted, in rows 2 and 3 of the document.  


MR. CARLETON:  Okay.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Then beginning in row 16 to 24, we have taken your OM&A expenses per line kilometre or per unit transmitted for sustaining OM&A, sustaining lines of stations and sustaining lines.  


The point I wanted to make is, if you are among the worst performer, according to the PA study, those benchmarks would actually be getting worse in the test years.  


MR. CARLETON:  This would indicate we are spending more in the test years, yes.  Would it mean we necessarily would be moving the ranking within the P.A. Consulting?  I don't know, because once again they're looking back to 2005 data.  These other utilities may be having the same aging issue as we're having and, in fact, it all may be relative; the rankings may stay relatively the same.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  That's fair enough.  We don't have the data for the other utilities, but if P.A. Consulting identified a problem between 2003 and 2005, your spending levels in the test years will make that problem worse.  


MR. CARLETON:  Our spending years, the test years are higher, yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you.  Now, I want to move to some of the specific line items in the sustaining budget.  First is the power equipment, and I note Ms. Lea spent some time on it.  


If I can refer you back to Exhibit L-1-1, row 29, the originally forecasted spending for power equipment was 41.5 million and the updated figure is 52.9 million.  


At page 31 of the technical conference transcript, you describe the increase as a resulting from failures of transformers at Burlington -- Burlington TS in Hamilton, Cecil TS in downtown Toronto, and Caledonia station.  In addition to that you mention the failure of Pickering.  Do you recall that?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So is it fair to say that that increase is due to unusual events?  The increase between the originally planned and the actual?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Transformer failures are not necessarily an unusual event.  It is an event we try to avoid but they do occur. 


Sorry, the other reasons offered were?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Burlington, Cecil -- 


MR. PENSTONE:  Again?  The Caledonia incident was basically vandalism, and I can't say that we have too many situations where we've experienced that type of vandalism in the past, so that's a pretty unique occurrence.  


The Pickering cable failure is, again, was a unique occurrence that we had to deal with.  In other words, we had not experienced a failure like that before.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So that's what? 


MR. CARLETON:  If I might just add, though, you are quite right to identify in '06 what we projected in April, we came in significantly higher at the end of the year.  In fact we went through that same exercise in 2005, where we were projecting earlier and we overspent again.  


So it seems that this corrective stuff has started to trend over the last couple of years, where this increased spending has been a requirement happening during a year when we hadn't planned for it.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  So you're not increasing your 2007 budget proportionally just because you have had unplanned increases in 2006?  


MR. CARLETON:  I think our plan had already incorporated the trend we'd seen, so we were in fact increasing the level of spending.  We needed in 2007, and no, we're not asking to increase that further based on the experience we saw for the last half of 2006.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, with respect to the 2007 and 2008 budgets, what you say at page 15 of Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2 - I don't think you need to turn it up: 

~"Increased expenditures are required to provide for the increased maintenance and refurbishments of a large number of assets which will enter their mid- to end-of-life regions in 2007 and 2008."  


What you described in your evidence is refurbishment of certain assets, and under capital program, replacement of others?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Refurbishment is considered O&M and replacement is considered capital.   


MR. DeVELLIS:  Now, what you described is an increase in maintenance costs in the short run to deal with these sort of group of assets reaching a certain stage of their asset life at the same time.  


MR. PENSTONE:  I don't think I would characterize it as a blip.  We're saying an escalation in the number of assets that are reaching this mid-life crisis, so to speak, or their end of life.  We would expect the number of assets, because of the historic development of the transmission system, would continue to grow.  So it's not just a quick blip then it is going to come back to levels that we experienced in the historic years.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  You described, for example, a number of transformer stations reaching their 40-year mark. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Right.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Eleven extra in 2007. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Right. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Once you deal with that, it's dealt with.  Wouldn't you expect to go back to a normal level of spending in subsequent years?  


MR. PENSTONE:  No, because as soon as we deal with those stations, then there is additional stations that are 35 years old that will be 40 years old in five years' time, and we have to deal with them.  


So this is part of an ongoing requirement, and we've we're seeing sort of the thin edge of it now.  The problem doesn't go away in the test years.  It's going to continue beyond that, as we have a -- backlog is not the word I'm looking for, but a substantial proportion of our fleet will also be entering the mid- to end-of-life parts of their life cycle beyond the test years.  


This is not a temporary or transient situation.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  But you described a number of your assets reaching a 40-year mark. 


MR. PENSTONE:  Right. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  I understand it will be more behind them, but there wouldn't be as much.  You described an increase in the transmission system in the 1950s, for example.  Those assets are sort of like a baby boom effect.  Those assets reach a certain stage where you have increased expenditures.  Once you pass that, wouldn't you expect to return to normal levels?  


MR. PENSTONE:  There is some evidence that we provided that shows the demographic profile for our various asset groups.  


MR. ROGERS:  Let's take a minute and get that.  


MR. JAKOB:  J-5-28.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Okay, here we go.


MR. ROGERS:  J‑1, schedule 20, page 4 is perhaps what we need.  


MR. JAKOB:  Actually, J-5‑28 I think illustrates it fairly well, on which we have, on page 2 and on page 3, figures 1, 2 and 3.  We showed the percentage of age, age in years plotted against the number of devices.


So if you look at, for example, a mid-life of a circuit breaker, which might be in the 30- to 35‑year range, you can see that there is about 3 percent proportion of the population is in that range.  But as we move along, as Mr. Penstone has said, as we do go and do refurbishment, as we do do work on those, there is a significant number coming up behind them to take that place.  


So it will be a continual thing for some time, or in the reference that Mr. Rogers mentioned -- was it J‑1‑20, I believe it is?


MR. ROGERS:  J‑1-20, page 4 of 9, is perhaps what will show the increase of those over 40 years old by year.


MR. JAKOB:  Right.


MR. ROGERS:  J‑1, schedule 20.


MR. JAKOB:  Page 4, graphs 2 and 2(b).


MR. ROGERS:  If you look at -- sorry to interrupt, Mr. DeVellis, but to get you where you're looking for, J‑1 -- Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 20, page 4, gentlemen, does that show us the number of transformers as they're aging?


MR. JAKOB:  Yes, it does.


MR. ROGERS:  Just between 2006 and 2007, it looks like you go from 255, which are over 50 years old, to 266; is that right?


MR. JAKOB:  That's correct, yes.


MR. ROGERS:  Then between 2007 and 2008 it looks like there are 20 more that are 50 years of age.


MR. JAKOB:  That's right.


MR. ROGERS:  I'm sorry, it should be over 40, not 50.  It's over 40 years.


MR. JAKOB:  There's two graphs there actually.  Figure 2(a) is over 40 and figure 2(b) is over 50.  In both cases you can see the increase.


MR. ROGERS:  Thank you.


MR. DeVELLIS:  I want to ask you now about your vegetation management spending.


This particular line item doesn't have large spending increases, but what you said in your evidence is that the increases are primarily due to wage escalation.


We asked in an interrogatory at Exhibit J, tab 7, schedule 8 - you don't need to turn it up ‑ why the spending levels were stable in the earlier years, 7, 3, 4 and 5, 2003, 2004, given that you would experience labour escalation in each year.


Your answer was that spending levels for 2003 and 2004 are relatively flat as rising labour rates were offset by changes in work accomplishment.


Can you tell me what that means?


MR. ROGERS:  Do you need to look that up?  Mr. DeVellis --


MR. JAKOB:  It is J-7-8.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, J-7-8, question E.


MR. JAKOB:  Question E?


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.


MR. JAKOB:  Okay.  Priorities at the time, as well as asset condition assessment information, information on the assets themselves, allowed a reduction in the accomplishments for one year.


So accomplishments in the previous year, that is 2003, were higher than what we needed for a seven‑year cycle, which is the ideal of what we looked for.  So we had the flexibility to back down on 2004 accomplishments in order to address those priority items.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  And you do that in historic years.  I guess what I'm getting at is, for the test years, you have identified certain areas that are priorities and you've plopped them on top of existing spending.


Why is it that you can't make the same sort of priority decisions in the test years that you have done in the historic years; in other words, manage priority items in the test years and reduce other items as you've done in the past?


MR. JAKOB:  I think we do.  It's a matter of prioritizing the work in a particular year when we plan our business, as we talk about in A-14, A-14‑5.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Well, but my point is you have large percentage increases across most of your categories, sustainment OM&A.


And, I mean, not everything can be a priority; right?  Wouldn't you expect, as you've done in the past, that certain things aren't a priority so you can put them off and deal with priority issues, whereas what we see here is, Well, we're coming in for a test year, so let's identify all of the priorities and add them on top of normal spending?


MR. PENSTONE:  The priorities are established by considering the risks that each investment addresses or mitigates.


So this entire submission, the risks that are being mitigated at this expenditure level for vegetation management is equivalent to the risks that are being mitigated by the proposed investments on our stations OM&A, for example.


There may have been quite a difference in expenditures between the two types of programs, but what it reveals to us is that our stations' assets represent a greater risk and require more investments to ensure that the vegetation, our rights of way, are in a sort of comparable situation from a risk perspective.


So, in fact, we have sort of managed each one of our investment categories to achieve a consistent risk profile across all of our assets.


MR. DeVELLIS:  Ms. Lea asked you about your overhead lines, planning corrective maintenance projects.


 MR. PENSTONE:  Right.


MR. DeVELLIS:  And the reference is at C1, tab 2, schedule 2, page 36.


Sorry, I've lost the -- oh, yes, the spending levels, I'm sorry, are shown on table 2 -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Sorry, can you tell me the reference again? 


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes, Exhibit C-2, tab 2, schedule 2.  Sorry.  C-1, tab 2.  


MR. ROGERS:  Tab 2, schedule 2?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Yes.  


MR. ROGERS:  Page?  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Page 32, table 5.  


Ms. Lea asked you about the increase in planning, corrective maintenance and projects from 4.8 million or 4.9 million in 2006 to 9.9 million in 2007.  At page 36, you identified two reasons for the increase in this program.  One is general labour escalation, and two is you have identified two specific issues on the 500 kV lines between Sudbury and Barrie and Sarnia and London.  Is that right?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  If we take 4.9 million and, as I understand it, your annual wage escalation is about 3 percent?  


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  If you take 4.9 million and increase it by 3 percent, you get 5.1 million.  That would be the normal.  If you were just looking at labour escalation, that would be the 2007 budget, you would expect?  So the difference between 9.9 million and 5.1 million is to deal with the two specific issues you have identified?  In other words, that's the extra work that you're planning.  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  And these budgets are established on the basis of information that we have about lines assets that require some remedial work.  


This, again, is one of the reasons why this particular program goes up and down.  It all depends on the problems that we identify.  The nature of those problems, they drive the costs.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  My question was, once you have dealt with those two issues, the 4.8 million, wouldn't you expect to return to normal spending levels?  


MR. PENSTONE:  As long as we didn't identify problems elsewhere on the transmission system, that's fair to say.  Right now we know that these are the hot spots that need to get addressed.  


If we remedy them and we have no other information to suggest that there are other problems on the transmission system, then the costs would go down.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Right.  But your 2008 spending is 8.4 million.  And then your application is actually for 2009, 2010 as well.  


MR. JAKOB:  First of all, these are multiple-year programs.  The Sarnia by London starts in 2007.  However the Sudbury by Barrie started in 2005 and runs through 2009.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  And your adjustment mechanism for 2009, 2010 assumes whatever you spend in 2007 and 2008 and carries it forward to those years essentially with the formula.  


MR. ROGERS:  There is another panel that will deal specifically with the formula, but if you can answer the question, please do, but there will be someone who is very knowledgeable about the formula itself.  Can you answer the question, gentlemen?  


MR. CARLETON:  I would defer it.  


MR. ROGERS:  Okay.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Just one more question, and that's on the issue of your sustainment capital.  Ms. Lea asked you about your response to Board Staff interrogatory number 71.   It's J-1-71.  


Now, Ms. Lea asked you why certain of the cost components weren't filled in.  But my question is:   If you don't have those cost components, how are you able to determine the cost benefit of those various projects?  


MR. CARLETON:  What we don't have is, we don't have the cost broken out by each level of that table.  


We know and we have a good estimate what the overall cost will be for the project.  However, how that will break down into labour cost or contracted out costs, material, what kind of tools and materials, how that actually breaks down for each project may be different, based on the resource mix that was used at the time. 


MR. DeVELLIS:  How do you get to the total cost if you don't know the individual component?  


MR. CARLETON:  We would use history.  We would use our guess of what the mix might be.  Each individual planner or project manager would use his experience and would use his knowledge to come up with an estimate based on the mix he thinks he might use, he or she might use.  But at the point we put the budget together we don't have that level of detail.  We don't.  


MR. DeVELLIS:  Thank you, panel.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. DeVellis.  Who is going next?


MR. RODGER:  It was suggested by a few of my friends that I go next, and I am happy to do so.  Perhaps before I start, Madam Chair, I sent out over the weekend an exhibit to my friend and I have hard copies for everyone I brought this morning that I have also handed to Ms. Lea.  I wonder if that could be made an exhibit.  It is four pages.  The heading at the top is simply "AMPCO Exhibit, April 23rd, 2007," and it references the file name and number for this case.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you, Mr. Rodger.  Just to be clear, the contents of this exhibit are actually on the record already.  


MR. RODGER:  That's correct.  The first page is simply evidence that I may be referring to in my cross-examination.  The remaining pages bring together information that's already on the record, mainly from interrogatory responses.  


MS. NOWINA:  We will mark it as an exhibit. 


MS. LEA:  We will mark it for identification then, L-1-4.  


EXHIBIT NO. L-1-4:  DOCUMENT ENTITLED: "AMPCO 
EXHIBIT, APRIL 23, 2007"

MR. RODGER:  Thank you.  Panel, in both of your -- 


MR. ROGERS:  Excuse me, sorry, Mr. Rodger.  I can't help but observe that this document was received late, I think, last night.  The witnesses have had a chance to look at it this morning, but I'm hoping that they're comfortable answering questions about it.  I think they are. 


MS. LEA:  I understand it's already on the record.  I beg your pardon, Madam Chair. 


MS. NOWINA:  I understand it is all on the record - is that right, Mr. Rodger - so it's all been filed previously.  


MR. ROGERS:  We don't have a problem.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. ROGERS:  


MR. RODGER:  Panel, in both your evidence-in-chief and cross-examination are you talked about how you are seeking increases in the sustaining OM&A and capital.  


I have some further questions of clarification regarding your evidence of asset aging.  I wonder if you could, first, turn up prefiled evidence volume 2, Exhibit C-1, tab 2, schedule 2.  This is the first bullet on page 1 of Exhibit L-1-4 for your reference.  


While people are turning that up, the three figures pertain to cumulative circuit breaker asset base.  That is figure 1.  Figure 2 is cumulative transformer asset base.  And figure 3 is cumulative transmission lines asset base.  Do you have that exhibit, panel?  


MS. LEA:  I'm sorry, Madam Chair, we appear to be off air again.  Is it something to do with the buttons we're pressing here? 


MS. NOWINA:  It must be.  Some gremlin in the system, yes.  It's on now.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you.  


MS. NOWINA:  Sorry, Mr. Rodger.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you, Ms. Lea.  Panel, as I understand these three figures -- and you've referred to it, Mr. Penstone, I believe in earlier testimony, but these figures represent a graphical presentation of the ‑‑ I think in your words, the demographics of the age of circuit breaker, transformer and transmission line assets; is that correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. RODGER:  And this is all part of the aging asset factor which, I think your evidence is, is the best available indicator of the factors that drive increases in real OM&A costs; is that fair?


MR. PENSTONE:  I would like to correct that point.  Asset aging, or the aging asset, is a flag or a leading indicator that we use to suggest that maintenance requirements may be going up.


The actual investments that we make are based on more detailed information about the asset condition, its performance and that sort of ‑‑ those are the factors that actually drive the investment.


To say that I need to spend more money on a transformer because it is 40 years old isn't sufficient rationale or justification.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Well, let me understand.  I want to try to understand what's included in these graphs and ultimately what inference you're asking the Board to take from these graphs.  


If, for example, I go to figure 2, and this is the cumulative transformer asset base, and on the vertical column you have a number of transformers and on the horizontal axis you have years starting in 1906 and going right out to 2005. 


I want to put an illustration to you to see if I understand what is captured by this figure.


Let's assume in Figure 2 that you installed a new transformer in 1960 and that transformer had a 40-year life.  And let's also assume that in the year 2000, you actually replaced that 1960 transformer.  


Does the information in this figure, in my example, in the year 2000, would it show the 1960 line go down because you've removed that transformer from service, and the 2000 ‑‑ in the year 2000, that line increasing to show that you have added a new asset?


MR. JAKOB:  This represents the cumulative asset base.  So if one has been removed from service, that wouldn't show up here?


MR. RODGER:  It would not show up, no.  So the yellow colour on this figure, then, it really includes everything.  It includes old assets, new assets, refurbished assets and replaced assets; is that correct?


MR. JAKOB:  It's really assets that are in service right now.  If we look at 2005, it says we have 1,400 transformers in service.


MR. RODGER:  See, if you flip back the page on this exhibit, so it's now on page 3 of 47, I just want to read starting on line 24.  It says:

~"Figures 1, 2 and 3 indicate that there will be a substantial increase in the number of assets in the mid-life and end-of-life regions compared to the last time that costs were reviewed for the purpose of establishing transmission rates."


That's why I asked about the example of the old asset.  You may -- for example, in the year 2000, that may include a transformer ‑‑ or 2000, that may include a new transformer put in place in the year 2000 that replaced one that was out of service in 1960.


So, you know, it appears that this infrastructure is getting older, but what I am trying to understand is does it pick up those replacement assets that came in later on, because in that case, the 2000 transformer, it's seven years old, but it certainly has a long, long life left?


MR. JAKOB:  It's an indication that the asset base has grown, is what it is.


MR. RODGER:  But what inference can this Board draw from these figures to show age at any given point in time?  Doesn't these figures show the size of the overall system at any given year and time, but it doesn't really say how old those assets are?  That's what I'm trying to understand.


MR. JAKOB:  We did respond to that in an interrogatory that I mentioned earlier that showed the percentage of age, and I think that is probably a better illustration of the age of those assets.


MR. RODGER:  So before we move to that, Mr. Jakob, is that fair that these figures just simply show a snapshot of the total Hydro One assets at any given point in time and there's no conclusions that can be made by this Board as to the age of the assets, certainly not on this information?


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PENSTONE:  We take your point about the fact that you could have a situation where a transformer was replaced, and then a new one inserted.


However, the chart indicates that we have 1,400 transformers.  Over the course of time, we have not replaced substantial numbers of those transformers.  In general, they are ‑‑ have been maintained so that they do reach their or achieve their end of life.


So the number of situations that you indicate where we've replaced the transformer, out of this total population, I would suggest that it's a small percentage.  I mean, I can't give you a precise number, but, just intuitively, we've replaced transformers because they failed.  The ones that we're replacing now on a planned basis are generally in the range of 50 to 60 years old.


So using that as a rule of thumb, I believe that, you know, although this may not be a precisely accurate representation of the asset age, it is pretty close.


MR. RODGER:  Okay.  Maybe I could ask you about the specific numbers, turn to that next.  If you go to page 2 of my exhibit, Exhibit L1.4, what we did, at least what AMPCO did, in volume 2, Exhibit J, tab 6, schedule 1, is ask you for a breakdown of the numbers of these three figures that I have just referred to.


What we've done in the ‑‑ on page 2 of this exhibit is compare the information that you provided to AMPCO in the interrogatory response with the information you provided to Board Staff in an interrogatory response, volume 1, Exhibit J, tab 1, schedule 20.


This has to do with the discussion you had earlier on with one of my friends about circuit breaker life, 40 years and older and 50 years and older.  Just so you understand what we've done, for example, on the top line of this table, circuit breakers greater than 40 years old, what we did is we went back and looked at, for example, the 1962 number that you provided in the response to AMPCO's interrogatory.  The number was 411.


The next column on the right, that was taken from the 1963 number, 437 and so on.


We have compared those numbers to your response to Board Staff, and what you will see for both the 50-year-old circuit breakers and the 40-year-old circuit breakers is that in all cases, but one, the total quantity of 40-year-old-plus and 50-year-old-plus circuit breakers identified in the interrogatory response to Board Staff exceeds the numbers identified in the interrogatory response to AMPCO.


I wonder ‑‑ I know you've had since just yesterday afternoon to take a look at this, but are you able to just reconcile for us why the numbers aren't the same?


MR. JAKOB:  Sure.  Sorry about that.  Yes.  Actually, the data source for these, both the J-6‑1 and the J‑1‑20 are the same source of raw data.


However, what we found, thanks to your question, is that there is an error in J‑1‑20, and in reality although we use the same source data, we used summary data to arrive at the J‑1‑20 numbers and the actual raw data for the J‑6‑1 numbers.


MR. RODGER:  I see.  So we should rely on the answers given to AMPCO in interrogatory J-6.  


MR. JAKOB:  All I can say is that J-6-1 does reflect the accurate numbers without looking specifically at an interrogatory.  Now that we know that we do have an error in some the numbers, we would have to look and see specifically if there's a change in that response.  


MR. RODGER:  Okay. 


MS. NOWINA:  So Mr. Rogers - Hydro One's Mr. Rogers - does Hydro One plan on resubmitting a response to that interrogatory?  


MR. ROGERS:  I think we should look at it, Ms. Nowina.  We will certainly give the Board an explanation and if it is incorrect -- we will resubmit.  We will resubmit the table with an explanation of the significance.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  


MS. LEA:  I beg your pardon.  Mr. Rogers, you're planning to resubmit J-1-20? 


MR. ROGERS:  I'm not sure where the -- what I am hearing now, the more accurate numbers are J-6-001.  If that's the case, then J-10-20 is not accurate.  And if that is the case we will submit accurate numbers.  


MS. LEA:  Thank you. 


MS. NOWINA:  The question is:  Is that an undertaking or will it just be a new version of J-1-20?


MR. ROGERS:  Let's make it an undertaking because I am not sure of the reason for this.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let's do that.  


MS. LEA:  Undertaking K-1-2. 


UNDERTAKING NO. K-1-2:  TO PROVIDE NEW FIGURES FOR 


J-1-20 DOCUMENT

MR. RODGER:  Now, Ms. Lea asked a number of my questions, but there is one area Ms. Lea touched on that I wanted to follow up on, and this pertains to pages 3 and 4 of my exhibit that I handed out, Exhibit L-1-4.  


It has to do with asset condition assessment reports.  I am not going to ask questions around the adequacy of the 2006 report.  That's already been settled, but I do want to follow up on I think where Ms. Lea was going, in terms of, again, the inference to be taken by this Board from the 2006 report with respect to capital expenditures.  


To give a little bit of back ground to this, in the prefiled evidence you talk about preventive maintenance, optimization approach, which helps you to decide which maintenance programs to execute upon.  Is that fair?  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes, that's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  And the Asset Condition Assessment Report is one significant factor among many that you look to.  Is that right?  


MR. JAKOB:  For capital programs, the end-of-life criteria does factor in asset condition, as Mr. Penstone has said, but also considers many other factors to determine that end of life.  


MR. RODGER:  But it also is a direct impact on OM&A programs, as well as I understand it.  It's not just capital.  


MR. JAKOB:  Asset condition assessment can take a number of different forms.  One is a targeted asset condition assessment, as is shown in the exhibits that we filed here today done by our consultant, Hatch Acres, but asset condition assessment is really an ongoing process, and this is what the preventive maintenance programs really capture.  It's on a day-to-day basis we capture information about the assets and we make determination if there is a requirement to, perhaps, reinforce those maintenance activities, or perhaps back off on those maintenance activities in order to optimize the maintenance on those devices.  


MR. RODGER:  I guess what I was picking up on, Mr. Jakob, and I will give you the reference.  I don't think you have to turn it up.  It’s one line, Exhibit D-1, tab 2, schedule 1, page 2 of 11.  There's a statement:   

~"Asset condition assessment information is a significant factor in determining the priority of work requirements which make up the sustainment, capital and OM&A programs. 


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  But it's not the only factor. 


MR. RODGER:  Yes, I appreciate that.  


MR. JAKOB:  Correct.  


MR. RODGER:  Now, what we did on this page 3 and 4 of Exhibit L-1-4, which I handed out earlier, is to try and get a sense of the aging trends and impact on equipment over the two years, the 2003 report and the 2006 report.  Again, not to put any uncertainty or question the adequacy of the report itself, but just to establish the trends that you've been talking about, that your assets are aging and there is going to be more sustaining OM&A needed. 


I think you got into part of the answer with Ms. Lea, but I just want to explore it further with you.  When you look at the comparisons that we have done on pages 3 and 4, between 2003 and 2006, we frankly didn't see a lot of deterioration of asset condition like we thought we would have seen over that time period.  If you look down the list at various topics, you see that there are actually some significant improvements in some asset class.  


I think that part of your answer to Ms. Lea was that the 2003 report you didn't think was comparable to the 2006 report.  I wonder if you could just first explain that, because we have prepared this table with the thought that things should be getting worse across the Board.  I should have mentioned that the subset of assets that we've looked at in this table are priority one assets.  You'll agree with me those are your most critical infrastructure?  


MR. JAKOB:  Let me try to explain.  First of all -- thank you, Mr. Penstone.  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's what I'm here for.  


MR. JAKOB:  Yes.  First of all, let me explain the notion of the two asset condition assessments in 2003 and 2006.  


First of all, in 2003, we conducted, I'll call it our first structured asset condition assessment using really some leading-edge technology in the industry.  Not many, if any, utilities went down that road of doing that asset condition assessment the way we did with Acres at the time.  


It was new, we learned a lot as we went.  Moved forward to 2006.  Again we engaged Hatch Acres this time, and in 2006 we refined those techniques.  We have more and better data, and we enhanced the algorithm.  And this is a really important point I want to make, that when we looked at quantifying the health of a particular asset, we used certain weighting factors.  We looked at different aspects of that asset and we weighted them differently.  


When we did do that in 2006, the algorithms were often very different than what we originally used in 2003.    When we try to compare one asset against the same asset three years later, the ratings, the scale that we used is very different.  So to look at the numbers side by side and to try to draw some conclusions about the performance of those assets and the deterioration between 2003 and 2006, it is just not a comparable comparison.  


MR. RODGER:  Just to be clear, if I look at the very first category on my page 3, transformers.  We have good, very good category in 2003 of 84.7 percent, and in 2006 it is 93.2 percent.  You're saying that we really can't make that conclusion that things in fact are getting better between those two periods of time?  The situation is improving with respect to this particular asset class?  


MR. JAKOB:  No, I couldn't make that conclusion just looking at those numbers, no.  We would have to dig right back into the algorithm and look at exactly what happened on each and every one of those assets.  


MR. RODGER:  And with this enhanced algorithm, I think you described it as, it's your evidence now that you have a lot more confidence in these 2006 numbers than you did in the 2003 numbers?  Is that fair?  


MR. JAKOB:  They are definitely an improvement based on the knowledge that we have and the methodology that we've used.  


MR. RODGER:  Again, not looking at the report or the adequacy of the report itself, but the inference that you want this Board to take from this study, once again, isn't this simply a snapshot in time of your system?  It really doesn't tell you about the age of your assets or the extent of deterioration of those assets.  Again, if is a snapshot of, here we are at this moment in time. 


MR. JAKOB:  It is indeed a snapshot in time.  It is a reflection of the condition of the asset.  But again, the condition of the asset, the age of the asset – or, I'm sorry, the age of the asset is one factor.  The condition of the asset does change in time.  But there are other factors in making our investment decisions including manufacturer support, ability to get spare parts.  There are a lot of other considerations other than strictly the condition at that snapshot in time. 


MR. RODGER:  I appreciate that.  I guess my point is just looking at the inference from this 2006 report, that the Board could not decide that in fact things were getting worse on your system by just simply looking at this 2006 report.  


MR. JAKOB:  That's correct.  


MR. RODGER:  Thank you very much.  Those are my questions.


QUESTIONS FROM THE BOARD:

MR. RUPERT:  I just want to clarify an answer in response to one of Mr. Rogers' questions about these charts, the coloured charts on Exhibit C1, tab 2, schedule 2.  These are the charts that showed the cumulative ages of breakers, transformers and transmission lines.  


I just want to make sure I heard correctly, or maybe put it this way:  I interpreted these charts originally as saying if I drew a line at, say, 1965, I could say that anything to the left of that line would measure how many pieces of equipment are older than 40 years.


I heard a question and answer I thought now leads me to wonder whether that is the case or not.  Am I interpreting these correctly?  We're looking at the same charts, are we?


MR. PENSTONE:  The point that Mr. Rodger was making was there is a possibility that as you look to the left of 1960, we may have installed a transformer in, say, 1948 and it failed in 1959.


So that transformer, when you do your assessment, it would suggest that that transformer is not just one ‑‑ 

is -- sorry.  Excuse us for just a second.


[Witness panel confers]


MR. PENSTONE:  Anything to the left of 1960 is older than -- what's the year ‑‑ 47 years old.


MR. RUPERT:  All right, thank you.


MS. NOWINA:  I just wanted to make a comment, Mr. Rodger, about your use of your charts here.  When I told Mr. Rogers not to worry, I was assuming that they were a direct lift from an interrogatory response or something.


Actually, you have transcribed them, put them in a spreadsheet.  You haven't done any calculations, so it is the same information.


I still think that this type of material should be put to the panel ahead of time for a couple of reasons.  The context is missing; if there is context in the original response, and there could be an error transcribing the numbers and the witness panel should have an opportunity to check to make sure the numbers are correct.  


So it was pretty clear, I think, the panel didn't have any difficulty with it, but just a reminder to everyone I would like to be quite strict about this rule that the witness panels get an opportunity to see the information ahead of time.


MR. RODGER:  I appreciate that, Madam Chair.  In this case, we did hope to get this information out on Friday.  I spoke with Mr. Rogers about that, but it took until Sunday afternoon to do exactly that, check all of the numbers and put it in a form that was going to be simple for people to understand.  We certainly take note of that.


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, you will go next?  Why don't we take our afternoon break, then, until 3:15, and then we will go to Mr. Buonaguro.


‑‑‑ Recess taken at 2:54 p.m. 


--- Upon resuming at 3:19 p.m.  


MS. NOWINA:  Please be seated. 


Before Mr. Buonaguro begins, we were having a discussion in our break about where we were on the agenda.  It appears to us that we will be likely finished with this panel sometime tomorrow, and tomorrow afternoon be able to begin Panel 2.  I wanted to alert everyone to that possibility.  


MR. LONG:  Madam Chair, I have a colleague of mine that joined me.  Her name is Sonia Pylyshyn.  I was wondering if we could cross-examine after this group is done?  Is that possible?  


MS. NOWINA:  I think so, unless others have... yes, but it won't be today.  Mr. Buonaguro is taking -- 


MR. BUONAGURO:  We've already arranged, actually, to accommodate Ms. Girvan to go next, because she has a short cross.  Maybe if they both want to go.  I'm here tomorrow either way.  That might be easier.  


MS. GIRVAN:  I expect to be about two minutes.  


MS. NOWINA:  That's not going to take much of the afternoon.  


MR. LONG:  That would be okay with us if we went next.  I don't expect we will be very long.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  


MS. LEA:  I had one note about Panel 2.  Unlike Panel 1, Board Staff has very little to cross-examine for Panel 2, given the depth that we did in our interrogatories in the technical conference.  Anybody who has cross-examined Panel 2, don't expect me to take anything like an hour tomorrow.  I expect to be quite a bit briefer.  


You may have to be ready for tomorrow afternoon is all I'm trying to say.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  We will begin, then, with you, Ms. Girvan.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. GIRVAN:

MS. GIRVAN:  Good afternoon.  Is this an awkward place for me to be sitting?  


MR. JAKOB:  That's fine. 


MS. GIRVAN:  We are our own little group here.  I'm  going to look at this issue really from a very, very high-level perspective.  If you could turn up Exhibit D-1, tab 3, schedule 1.  It’s the summary of -- sorry, page 2.  This summarizes the transmission capital budget.  Oh, we have it on the screen.  Thank you, Mr. Buonaguro.  


It summarizes the capital budget for transmission and looking at the historical trend versus the moving into the two test years.  


I guess the other exhibit that is relevant, and you don't have to turn this up at the moment, is the summary table of the OM&A, which sets out at the same level, the OM&A levels that you are proposing for the test year, 2007 and 2008.  And that's C-1, tab 2, schedule 1.  But I think we're quite familiar.  We have looked at that particular schedule.  


When I look at this, and I look at what was effectively the historical trends - I think Ms. Lea was getting this to some perspective - we see it's a somewhat fairly steady state in some respects, especially with the sustaining budget during the period 2003 to 2005.  Then we're seeing this significant ramp up, and I call it significant.  I guess I would ask you if you think it is really unprecedented, from your company's perspective.  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, I believe the question was asked before, is that we have not spent this level of capital funding in the past.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Equally the same with respect to your OM&A.  I guess what I'm really just looking at this and sort of seeing, and I think Ms. Lea talked about this a little bit, but looking at physically how the company is going to ramp up over these two years, 2007, 2008.  I would put that in the context of the pressures that you are going to be facing with respect to labour and finding labour and contracting for labour, if you need to do that.  As you discussed earlier, the issues regarding materials, equipment, purchasing those materials.  Any approvals that you're going to have to get through various avenues.  And also the thing that I would add is management oversight.  


If you could help me for a ratepayer perspective, the fact that you're seeking this huge increase in budgets for these two years, give me some confidence that you will be able to manage this and this is appropriate going forward.  


MR. CARLETON:  The first comment I would like to make is, you also indicated unprecedented level of OM&A spending, which I wouldn't quite agree with.  In the 2006 bridge year, we did spend $375 million, which was a ramp-up of about $34 million, and we're going another 20 above '07.  I think we're quite comfortable that there's no issue about spending the '07 level of OM&A funding.  


I think at this point we have the resources in place.  We're undertaking the work program, and I don't see that as an issue at all.  


On the capital it's a little more of an issue, as you identified.  There are pressures, there are challenges, there are approvals that we need to get through.  There is the contracting for significant external resources, there is hiring significant temps and regular staff.  


There is making sure the material is there.  We are looking at processes, improvements.  Overall we are managing to that.  We're doing everything we can.  Will there be challenges?  Yes.  We have looked in detail at our in-service edition forecast for 2007 to look at the capital that was built into the rate base of our 2007 spend, and we're comfortable once again that we will deliver that.  


Certainly on the development capital, there are issues on approvals.  There are negotiations with landowners and a lot of those issues.  It will be a challenge, and management is working hard at it.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Within the context of your particular responsibilities, have there been any discussions or presentations to senior management regarding these new challenges, an overview that maybe you have in place that you could provide us?  


MR. CARLETON:  The whole rate case was submitted and reviewed with senior management.  We've gone through the issues.  They are aware of the challenges.  They are aware this is what the assets need and this is the work that needs to get done.  So there is support to do everything we can to deliver on the work program.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Are there any concerns with respect to the significant -- I would call it specifically capital ramp-up, that you are going to have to pay more than you would otherwise because you are accelerating these projects?  


MR. CARLETON:  I haven't -- some evidence we have seen is the material escalation rates.  We're seeing, for instance, power transformers now seem to be going up, about 20 percent escalation increase.  That is a worldwide issue.  Not only will Hydro One be paying those costs, but every other utility looking for -- I think, power transformers are going up.  Some others are starting to see prices go up on steel, some of those types of things.  


So, yes, we expect to see some escalation in the future.  I'm not sure if there is any we can do to control it.  We are looking at some strategic sourcing initiatives to get some capacity.  Will costs go higher?  It looks like on some of our materials it will be.  That's about all I can speak to.  I don't know if other gentlemen have seen any escalation in estimates.  


MR. PENSTONE:  No.  


MS. GIRVAN:  Okay, thank you very much.  


MS. NOWINA:  Mr. Long.  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MS. PYLYSHYN:

MS. PYLYSHYN:  Thank you.  It's Sonia Pylyshyn from the Society of Energy Professionals.  I want to thank you for accommodating my schedule because I can't be here tomorrow. 


MS. NOWINA:  No problem. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  We just have a few questions, all about clarification of one of Hydro One's responses to our interrogatory number.  That is Exhibit J, tab 2, schedule 1.  


Maybe just to give a little bit of context while you're finding that document, it's going to be the Society's position when we make our closing arguments that the issue of appropriate compensation and benefits for unionized employees is a matter that is covered by labour relations legislation and it's beyond the mandate of the Board at this hearing.  But as an alternative argument, we're going to be saying that the human resource budget, at least with respect to our members, compensation and benefits is appropriate, and will be making some arguments when it is appropriate given the labour market, the demographics, the company and the country, the work plan of the company and the number of employees they need in order to carry out that work plan. 


Most of our questions are going to be for Panel 3, but we have a few for this panel, and they're all just to help us understand these documents which were provided to us in response to our interrogatory number 1.


Does everybody have the document that I'm referring to now?


MR. CARLETON:  J?


MS. PYLYSHYN:  It is Exhibit A, tab 2, schedule 1, and the first document that I am looking at, it's attachment A, so it's something called "Transmission Capital" and it is a list, a table.


MS. NOWINA:  Do you have it, panel?


MR. ROGERS:  Do you have that?  Do you have that attachment so that we can proceed?


MS. NOWINA:  Yes, it is on the screen, but do you have it?


MR. CARLETON:  It's coming.


MR. ROGERS:  Oh, on the screen.


MR. CARLETON:  Thanks.  I have the evidence.  We have the evidence.


MS. NOWINA:  Go ahead.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Luckily it's a little bigger on your screen than it was on my screen.  The first question I wanted to ask was just a clarification.  My understanding that what this document is is a list of capital projects of 3 million or more for which there has been a variance in either the budget or the in‑service date; is that right?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So it doesn't ‑‑ it's excluding any projects that had budgets of less than $3 million for which there has been a variance; right?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  If it had included those, it would have been a considerably larger list?


MR. CARLETON:  It would be considerably larger, yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, thanks.  Now, on the far left column that says "year", is the date in that column -- is that the date that the funds for the project were released by the investment planning group?  Is that how you would describe that date?  There are some that say 2004 and 2005 and 2006.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes, that would have been the year it was approved.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  By investment planning ‑‑


MR. CARLETON:  No, by the approver, whoever had the authority in the company to approve the project.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So, for example, the 2004 protection and equipment replacement, phase 4, it says, it was originally released in 2004.  We know that because of the date under "year", and then if you go across one, two, three, four columns, it says "Approved in‑service date, December '05".  Does that mean that when it was first approved in 2004, it was approved to have an in‑service date of December 2005?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  Then the next column, it says "December '07."  I take it that that means that the project 

-- at the point that you gave us this document, the project was expected to be delayed by two years; is that right?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  Then the same for the next one.  The 2005 protection replacement, it's delayed from June '06 to December '07.  So to see how long ‑‑ how far the projects have been delayed, we should compare the revised in‑service date to the approved in‑service date; right?


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry, ask that again?


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Sorry.  In order to see how much of a delay you expect there to be in these projects, we should compare the revised in‑service date to the approved in‑service date, I take it?


MR. CARLETON:  That would be correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.


MR. CARLETON:  I would mention, though, on some of these, like the one you specifically identified, like protection replacement, there may well be quite a number of these, and what we're saying ‑‑ I don't know how many might have been in there, but there might have been ‑‑ how many might have been in there, 30, 50?


MR. JAKOB:  Hundreds.


MR. CARLETON:  Hundreds.  This would be until we complete all of them it would be until December 2007 in the case of ‑‑


MS. PYLYSHYN:  When you say 100 of these, what you mean is, for example, the RTU replacement, that 2005 RTU replacement project consisted of the replacement of a number of pieces of equipment, right, maybe 100 pieces?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So it was originally anticipated that replacing all of those pieces of equipment would be completed by December 2005, and as it turns out, it won't likely happen until May 2008; is that right?


MR. CARLETON:  That's correct.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  Now, my other question is about ‑‑ there's some reasons given for the variance, and in a number of cases - for example, the protection and equipment replacement, the 2005 protection replacement, the 2005 RTU replacement, and then further down the 2005 RTU replacement program - in many of these cases the reason given is carryovers.


I'm just trying to understand what that means.  Does it mean that ‑‑ you just explained that one project might consist of the replacement of a number of different pieces of equipment.


So I take carryover to mean, for example, with the RTU replacement, that there had been a 2004 RTU replacement project, and it might have consisted of the replacement of 50 pieces of equipment, and that wasn't finished at the time that the 2005 RTU replacement project was released.  So those 2004 replacements had to be carried over into the new project; is that what that means?


MR. CARLETON:  They could be carried over for a number of reasons.  It could be, for instance, people on that project were redirected to some higher priority work.  It could be the 2005 replacement program, some of the specific replacements in that year took priority over some of the others because of anything that happened.  So, yes, those play against each other on a lot of these.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Just to be clear, I'm trying to get at what carryover means.  Does it mean that a previous project was carried over into this project?


MR. CARLETON:  No.  Sorry.  What a carryover means is I planned to do these 100 in '04.  I only did 80, so 20 carry over into 2005.  So within the 2005 work program, I still have to do 20 of the ones that were carried over from 2004.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  And the original ‑‑ sorry, the year indicated beside the project, that wouldn't be the year that the work started, I take it, would it?  Not necessarily?


MR. CARLETON:  It might be.  Depending on timing, it may not be.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  For example, the 2004, which is called the 2005 RTU replacement project, do you know when the work on that project actually started?


MR. JAKOB:  No, no.


MR. CARLETON:  I wouldn't know, no.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  The other documents that you gave us were attached after this document, and they are called interim review of variance forms, I guess.  You gave us a stack of them.  I guess those are called attachment B.


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Have you got those?  Now, I notice ‑- well, just to clarify, first of all, what these forms are, exactly, are these forms required where there is a change in in‑service date or scope or budget?


MR. CARLETON:  Typically we have within the company an organizational authority register that gives certain levels within the company how much approval they can do to a change in estimate.  So, yes, in this case, the project went from an original estimate of about $22 million to a final estimate of $30 million.  We would go to get whoever could approve that increase of $8 million.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So wherever there is a significant change of scope or an in‑service date or a budget, somebody fills out one of these forms?


MR. CARLETON:  Typically, yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay.  Now in looking through these forms, I noticed that a number of them, a significant number of them, give as a reason for a change in either budget or in‑service date unavailability of either P&C resources or engineering resources.


I take it that that would mean a lack of the required number of either P&C or engineering staff to do the work?


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  What it would mean is when we originally released the project, the resources were in place.  For some reason they may have been redirected to other work, or weren't available; so, yes, they weren't available to complete the work.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So wherever in these documents the reason for a delay is given as unavailability of P&C resources, that would refer to protection and control staff?


MR. CARLETON:  Protection and control expertise, yes.


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Now, sorry to take you back again to attachment A, but another question about that list.  I noticed that there are a number of projects on here which are ‑‑ you have indicated that there's been a delay, but you haven't given us any of these IERA forms; for example, the protection and equipment replacement and the 2005 protection replacement and the 2005 RTU replacement.  You don't have IERA forms for those.  Is there a reason for that?   


MR. CARLETON:  They weren't completed at the time we provided this interrogatory response.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Are they completed now?  


MR. CARLETON:  Sorry, I missed that.  IROV [phon] below?


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Have they been completed now, IERA forms for those projects I just mentioned?  


MR. CARLETON:  I don’t know.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  It is my understanding that those three projects that I named, the RTU replacement, the protection replacement and the protection tone equipment replacement, that the delays in those cases are also due to a lack of engineering or P&C resources, a lack of the necessary staff to do the work.  Is that your understanding?  


 [Witness panel confers]  


MR. CARLETON:  We're not sure.  It may well be the case, but we don't know in this panel, no.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  These are projects that have budgets of more than 3 million.  And in one case there's a two-year delay.  Are you saying that you actually don't know the reason for the two-year delay?  


MR. CARLETON:  I'm saying I don't know the reason for the two-year delay. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Does anybody on the panel know the reason for the two-year delay in the project with a budget of more than $3 million?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Not absolutely.  Not with 100 percent certainty.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Is it a possibility, as far as you're concerned, that the delay is due to a shortage of the staff that you need to do the work?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Man, this is the second "is it a possibility" question that I've gotten.  It's possible.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  The next question is in reference, also, to the IERA forms.  The question relates to work that is contracted out.  My question for you is whether, to your knowledge, contracting out of engineering or of protection and control work can considerably increase the cost as opposed to using in-house resources.  


[Witness panel confers]  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  To be fair, I can give you an example.  The Belle River Project, it's an IROV form for that, and that would be on page 9 of attachment B.  Page 9 of attachment B is titled, "Investment change analysis summary," and there is a box here for you to indicate the cause of the variance.  In this case it is a variance in a budget.  The top is given us engineering costs were higher due to outsourcing engineering work versus in-house.  


Would you say that this was one example of a project where using a contractor turned out to be considerably more expensive than it would have been to use in-house resources?  


MR. CARLETON:  No, I couldn't say that.  One of the issues with this particular one is, the work was released prior to the Society strike.  Some engineering was done.  It was then in the process of contracting out.  So there was duplicate work done for engineering which could have formed part of that 840K variance.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  I'm interested in where it says engineering costs were higher due to outsourcing engineering work versus in-house.  I take it from that that the person who filled out this form was suggesting it would have been less expensive to do it in-house.  


MR. CARLETON:  But there is a reference further down under the same point 1 where you get into the change explanation.  There is a little more fulsome description.  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  The context of that comment, under the cause, was the fact that, as Mr. Carleton pointed out, engineering costs were higher as work had to be outsourced versus kept in house.  


As a result of that, there was some duplicate engineering that took place, and that led to the higher costs.  But it was a situation that was caused by a project that was half engineered, that then had to be assumed by a third party.  And that caused costs to go up. 


MS. PYLYSHYN:  So that the increase in costs in that case were due to the labour dispute, you would say?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Well, it was due to the fact that we needed to meet the in-service date, and, yes, there was a labour dispute as we were constructing the station.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Thanks.  Now, the last question on that point would be on page 7.  This is about the Oshawa GM transmission station.  Again, there is a box itemizing the reasons for the increase in budget.  3.1 is given as outsourced engineering services.  And it says, 

~"Additional costs are due to contracting engineering services as well as design rework."


Does this mean that as a result of a decision to contract out the engineering work the costs were more, were higher than had been expected?  


MR. CARLETON:  Once again, I don't have the specifics on this one.  However, I would suggest that it's over the same time frame as the labour disruption.  And under the "change" explanation it has some comments about when the project was restarted and re-estimated so there may well have been some duplicate engineering.  I'm just not sure on this one.  


MS. PYLYSHYN:  Okay, thank you.  Those are my questions.  


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you.  Mr. Buonaguro, it seems that you would just barely get started and we would be finished, if you still expect to take a couple of hours; is that true? 


MR. BUONAGURO: No, it shouldn't take a couple of hours.  If there's anybody else who wants to squeeze in today, I am happy to start tomorrow. 


MS. NOWINA:  Would you complete in three-quarters of an hour, or do you need more than that?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  My time check tells me probably not.  


MS. NOWINA:  All right.  Let me ask other parties.  Is there anyone else who can go this afternoon?  Mr. Stevenson?  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes, Madam Chair, I would be happy to do that.  My view of the panel is somewhat obscured --


MS. NOWINA:  Do you want to move?


MR. STEPHENSON:  -- in this position, so I was proposing to move.  


MS. NOWINA:  Why don't you do that, Mr. Stephenson?  


CROSS-EXAMINATION BY MR. STEPHENSON:

MR. STEPHENSON:  Good afternoon, Panel.  My name is Richard Stevenson.  I am counsel for the Power Workers' Union, and I have been in the room all day and I have heard you.  Let me ask you a few questions about the issues here.  We have heard some suggestions today that part of the reason, at least, for the spike in the sustaining capital and O&M budgets is essentially due to under-investment in prior years.  You have heard that suggestion, I take it.  Fair?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it that you don't agree with that proposition?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair?  Okay, now, let me just put a couple of statements to you, and ask if you agree with them or not.  


On April 3rd, 2006, the then-minister of energy, Ms Donna Cansfield, said to the Board of Trade: 

~"From 1993 to 2003 electricity demand grew by 8 and a half percent, but installed capacity fell by 6 percent.  We also faced under-investment in our transmission system."


On the basis of what you just said, I take it you disagree with the Minister of Energy in terms of what she said on April 3rd, 2006, to the Board of Trade.  


MR. PENSTONE:  I hate to contradict the Minister of Energy; however, I think the important point is the context in which she made the comment "under-investment" was in the context of under-investment in expanding transmission capacity as opposed to under-investment in actually maintaining the existing assets.  


The inference that I drew was the comment was made in terms of not expanding the existing transmission system, and therefore, being faced with situations where there's congestion on the network, or equipment overloads.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  She wasn't suggesting that your existing network was crumbling.  You didn't take it that way, anyway; fair.


MR. PENSTONE:  Only the Minister knows for sure, but that's ‑‑


MR. ROGERS:  Let me interrupt just to say I don't know how far we're going to go with this, but these witnesses weren't there.  I don't think they read the whole speech.  I am a little concerned things are quite inadvertently being taken out of context here, so I hope my friend won't go too far with this.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I am not going to go too far with it, Mr. Rogers, but these are fairly well known speeches that are a matter of the public record.  They have been posted on websites for over a year, and this is an issue that -- I mean, clearly the corporation is aware of what the representative of a shareholder presumably said.


MR. ROGERS:  Well, its lawyer wasn't.  That's an example.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I only have one more of this and it's very brief, but the current Minister of Energy said on October the 31st, 2006 at the Canadian Club, and I quote:

~"As of 2003, our transmission system - the 28,000 kilometre-long network that brings power to our cities and our factories - was crumbling after years of under-investment."


I take it that there is no sort of ambiguity as to the Minister's view of the matter, in terms of whether this is a matter of expansion or the status of the current network?


MR. PENSTONE:  It's the first time I've heard that comment, and based on the way that you portrayed it, I think it is fair to say it was probably referring to the existing assets.


MR. STEPHENSON:  In any event, leaving aside whether there was under-investment or there wasn't under-investment, you have heard, I take it, a different view expressed perhaps to you this morning, which was suggesting to you that maybe all of the volume of work doesn't actually need to be done this year and perhaps we could defer some of this work off into future years without there being excessive negative impact to the system.  You have heard that suggestion made to you today, as well, at least implicitly?


MR. PENSTONE:  I've inferred that, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Yes.  Now, whether or not you have done not enough work or you're proposing to do too much work, I take it the one thing there is no dispute about is that all of the work that you are proposing to do actually needs to be done.  You may be unsure about timing, but at some point in time all of this work has to be done; fair?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  And it is our recommendation that it be done in the time frames that we've proposed.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I understand that and I'm going to explore that with you right now.


Now, in terms of the timing, in a perfect world, obviously, you would replace each component exactly the day before it failed on a plan basis and an efficient way; fair enough?  If you had perfect foresight, that's the way you would do your work?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I take it the problem is, of course, neither you nor anyone else has perfect foresight, and so there is a certain amount of judgment that's involved in the timing of this work; fair?


MR. PENSTONE:  There is a certain amount of judgment, but also the Board has to appreciate that there is also a large amount of technical information that goes behind to support the rationale and conclusion.  There is judgment applied to it, but there is a lot of quantifiable evidence that is also used.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Absolutely, and I take it from what you have told us that there is a large body of empirical data that is collected and assessed, and ultimately some judgment is applied, your best judgment, in terms of you're going to do this work now and that work later; fair?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  And, of course, the suggestion was made earlier that, you know, if you'd spent a little bit more money last year or two years, you wouldn't have to spend so much next year, because in effect you would have done -- nipped some of the problem in the bud.  You understood that suggestion?


MR. PENSTONE:  Yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  Now I take it ‑‑ but the problem with that is that that's not necessarily true, is it?  I mean, the problem is because you are, in effect, exercising judgment and predicting when things may fail, you are never perfect and you may, in effect, do some things too early and some things too late as a practical matter; correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  That may be the case, but the other point is that if we go and direct resources, labour resources, financial resources, to do work that isn't necessary at the time, it means that there may be other work that is more important and more urgent that isn't getting done.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Right.


MR. PENSTONE:  So that's our business, is to decide, you know, does this work really merit the risks that are involved if you don't get it done?


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I want to talk about that, too.  I take it that one model of work planning that you could follow is you simply don't do anything until something breaks, and then you go and fix it.  It's not a very appropriate one for reasons we're about to talk about, but in theory you could do that?


MR. PENSTONE:  I would do that, but Mr. Stenning to my right here would have a lot of problems with me.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it part of the problem in doing that is, of course, your customers are going to be inconvenienced perhaps catastrophically; fair?


MR. PENSTONE:  That is one of the impacts.  As well, the cost would also be higher.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I was about to get to that.  In fact, breakdown repairs are far more expensive to do than planned preventive maintenance, in terms of the actual costs of, in effect, doing the same work; correct?


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.


MR. STENNING:  Depending on the asset you're talking about.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Well, you aren't responding to things in a big hurry, but because you've got an outage, will typically entail far greater costs; fair?


MR. STENNING:  Most of our assets --


MS. NOWINA:  Excuse me.  Mic, please.


MR. STENNING:  We do have some assets that we do maintain on a breakdown replacement system.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And I take it, again, that is part of the judgment that you use, but the judgment there is to assess the impact that will be experienced either to your customers or to your system in general by virtue of just letting something break and fixing it later.  That's basically the analysis, is it?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Okay.  One small issue.  I just wanted to make sure I got this one.


The distinction between your OM&A program on the one hand and your capital program on the other, from a workforce perspective, at least.  I just wanted to make this point clear, that with respect to capital projects, leaving aside the management oversight, but the actual work in those cases is not done by your permanent staff; it is done by buildings trade staff, correct, in terms of construction of capital projects?


MR. STENNING:  There's a portion of capital projects, the commissioned projects, the final in‑service testing which is done by permanent staff.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Fair enough, but the actual typical putting-the-iron-in-the-ground stuff is largely done by building trade union staff; correct?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And sometimes in terms of building those projects, Hydro One acts as its own contractor, correct, that it is doing direct hires of tradespersons; correct?  Is that correct?


MR. STENNING:  Correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Other times, it will contract work out to an electrical contractor to do some or all of a job?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  But in either event, they are employing unionized building trades union people to do that work; correct?


MR. STENNING:  Yes, that's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  And those are not -- just for the record, those are not my clients.  They're not Power Workers represented folks; correct?


MR. STENNING:  That's correct.


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now in terms of the cost, my friend Ms. Girvan asked you whether or not it was possible that because of the spike in the work, you may be running into higher costs because of essentially the volume of work to be done in a relatively short period of time.  I just want to explore that with you.


One of the answers was that, in fact, you thought you may have some increased costs due to -- I think it was power transformers.  Do I have that right?


MR. CARLETON:  Material assets, yes.


MR. STEPHENSON:  The fact of the matter is that if there is an increase in the cost of power transformers, that price is not coming down any time soon, is it?  I mean, you don't forecast that you're going to get a spike for the next 24 months, and then it's going to drop precipitously 36 months from now?


MR. PENSTONE:  We don't expect the costs to come down, based on the current development that's going around ‑‑ that's occurring around the world, but then, again, we don't sort of manage world affairs and we never know what might happen.


MR. STEPHENSON:  I appreciate that, but your best assessment is that there is a worldwide electricity infrastructure shortage at the moment and that there is a lot of work going on in this area, both in North America and around the world; correct? 


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  In North America it's a bit of a renaissance, and in China and India it's brand new.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And that has translated into    increased demand for components, correct?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  It has also translated into an increase in - insofar as commodity prices affect you guys, and I take it they do for things like steel, and copper, and some other things – those prices are higher now than they were five years ago, by a significant margin; correct?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  I just want to talk for a moment about the consequences of you not getting approval to do the work plan that you have proposed.  


If the Board in the exercise of its judgment doesn't approve some of your work plan, I take it from your perspective, those projects don't go away.  They still need to be done.  They may not be done in 2007, but they still need to be done; fair? 


MR. PENSTONE:  The need still exists. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  What is proposed here, in terms of 2007 and 2008, is not a one-time sort of blip, where it goes up for two years, then you're expecting the OM&A and capital to go back down again, is it?  This is a permanent step increase for the foreseeable future in these budgets.  That's your best assessment; fair?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Insofar as something isn't approved this go-around, we're just getting into a snowball, aren't we, that it simply gets deferred and gets added on to a permanently increased base and it's going to be higher in 2010, or whenever; fair enough?  It's not going away?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's correct.  And in the period that it isn't going away, there are increased risks to customers and transmission reliability and so forth.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  And it may well be that for the reasons we discussed earlier you start doing breakdown repair as opposed to planned maintenance at a higher cost; correct?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That would be one of the consequences of the increased risk. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  And as you mentioned a number of times, you sometimes had to deploy people away to "higher priorities" - namely, outages and things like that, I take it - so it can interrupt what is otherwise a well planned work schedule; fair?  


MR. PENSTONE:  One bad outage can ruin your day, that is absolutely right.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Oh, I have forgotten.  There were some questions asked of you earlier regarding under-spending in a particular category of some OM&A budget line, whether it is stations or whatever.  


I think at least part of the explanation was that during a particular time frame you may well have done less work in the area than you had hoped, because staff had to be redeployed to more high-priority projects.  Remember that basic discussion?  


MR. PENSTONE:  That's one of the factors that would have caused the work not to be accomplished, yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  One factor, I appreciate that.  Yes.  I take it that is not an unusual occurrence, that your actuals, in terms of your actual accomplishments, there will be lots of variances between the line items, between your original plan at the beginning of the year; fair?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Our business is subject to external uncertainty that we have to respond to. 


MR. STEPHENSON:  That includes storms and labour disputes, and God knows what else.  All those kinds of things affect what you can do, when. 


MR. PENSTONE:  New generation connections and so forth, you're right.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Now, let me just deal with one last issue, and that is this.  In terms of the increased OM&A and capital in 2007/2008 as compared to 2006, I look at this at a very high level, and there seems to be there are two basic elements that can contribute to increased overall costs.  


One is you're doing more units of work, and the second is that each of those units of work, whatever that unit might be, may be costing you more than it would have in the prior year.  


Can you assist me?  Your plan for the 2007, 2008 is it calling for more units of work than in 2007 on a gross basis?  


MR. PENSTONE:  In terms of the nature of the work that has to be done on a number of assets is substantially more than it was in the past.  This is the notion of the midyear refurbishment.  Instead of doing sort of ongoing $5,000 a year maintenance, it is now a one-time shot of $200,000 a year, and that involves a lot more work than you've done historically.  


So the scope of work has increased.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  It's a bigger work program; fair?  


MR. PENSTONE:  And also -- 


MR. STEPHENSON:  If you held the line on all of your costs, your unit costs, whether it is labour, or material or components or whatever, I take it just on the scope of the work you would be looking for a bigger budget; correct?  


MR. PENSTONE:  Correct.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Can you assist us, at all, in terms of - I've forgotten what the dollars are - but insofar as there is an increased dollar amount between 2007 and 2006, just in ballpark terms how much of that is attributable to the bigger scope of work and how much of it is attributable to increasing your unit costs?  Can you assist us on that in any way?  Is it 50/50, 80/20?  


MR. CARLETON:  It would be significantly skewed to bigger scope of work, not necessarily cost escalation.  So if you take typically labour is increasing 3 percent per year, material is increasing somewhere between zero and 20 percent, depending on what specific type of material it is.    


MR. STEPHENSON:  Just to be clear, then, even if you held the line on all of your unit costs, you would still be looking for more money to do this work program.  Fair?  


MR. CARLETON:  Yes.  


MR. STEPHENSON:  Thank you, those are my questions. 


MS. NOWINA:  Thank you, Mr. Stephenson.  


PROCEDURAL MATTERS:


MS. NOWINA:  Is there anyone else?  I don't think so.  Is there anyone else who is going to cross-examine this witness panel besides Mr. Buonaguro?  


Given that, I think that, Mr. Buonaguro, we won't start with you today.  We will start with you first thing in the morning.  


It appears, to me, then that we will start witness Panel 2 fairly early tomorrow, probably part-way through the morning.  Is that going to be a problem for anyone?  And to the intervenors, are there materials that you need to get to Mr. Rogers for his witness panel for cross-examination?  


MR. BUONAGURO:  We actually have some material, but we have chatted with some representatives there, so we will make sure we will get it. 


MS. LEA:  Likewise, I will have some material, but I will speak to Mr. Rogers before the end of the day. 


MS. NOWINA:  The parties can take care of that to Mr. Rogers' satisfaction. Then we can proceed with that panel tomorrow. 


MR. ROGERS:  We alerted them that they may be needed tomorrow afternoon, but I think I can have them here in the morning.  


MS. NOWINA:  Great.  Are there any other matters before we close off for today?  Thank you very much.  


We are adjourned for today and we will be reconvened tomorrow at 9:30.  


--- Whereupon the hearing adjourned at 4:08 p.m.
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